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     Welcome friends to our online 2021 BCMB 

Convention. We are deeply grateful to the Lord for 

this community and the privilege that He has given 

us to walk together in His love. While we all share 

a deep sadness for the lost lives and diminished 

relationships resulting from the pandemic, we 

choose to focus on the sure promises of God 

and the confidence that He is at work leading us 

forward.

     Our theme for this year is found in the letter to 

the Hebrews where we read, “We have this hope 
as an anchor for the soul, firm and secure. It 
enters the inner sanctuary behind the curtain, 
where our forerunner, Jesus, has entered on 
our behalf.”
     The hope that anchors us is the access to 

God’s presence and promises which were opened 

to us by the work of Jesus accomplished during 

the darkest hours of history. While his disciples 

were in despair and confusion, Jesus was 

finishing the work of atonement. The resurrection 

would follow, and the hope of the gospel made 

complete.

     We dare not compare our year of pandemic 

restrictions to the dark times that followers of 

Jesus have endured in the past or indeed suffer 

today around the world, but the sense of loss and 

uncertainty has been real. As we gather virtually 

for Convention, we want to give testimony that 

God has been at work among us and we want to 

look ahead to encourage one another to live and 

preach the gospel boldly in the coming days. 

     Thanks again for “showing up.” Your presence 

is an encouragement to us all. We deeply 

appreciate your patience and consideration for 

the limitations that we have in this year’s online 

format. Let’s do our best to love and serve one 

another well.

Rob Thiessen, BCMB Conference Minister
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PRAYERS
Thank you Heavenly Father, for you are so 
much bigger than a virus or any government. You 

are God Almighty. History is but a drop in the 

bucket for you! And so we will praise you because 

you are faithful and good, yesterday, today, and 

forever!

Father, we lift up our eyes to you. You have not 
lost track of things...you care about what happens 

to us. We worship you this day, Father.

Thank you, Lord, for your manifold wisdom 
and perfection, your creative brilliance, and your 

awesome power.

You are the God of wisdom. You are the God of 
mercy. Please look down on us with favour today 

and in the days to come. Your name be praised by 

the BCMB family.

God, you are our refuge and strength, an ever-
present help in trouble. Therefore we will not fear, 

though the earth give way and the mountains fall 

into the heart of the sea, though its waters roar 

and foam and the mountains quake with their 

surging.

Father we are your children, we look to you for 
every breath, for all that is good, for our very life. 

And you are good O Lord. You are worthy.

Lord, we lay down our desire for control, 
power, and the need to change our situation. We 

open ourselves completely to your love, sovereign 

hand, and your abiding presence.

We confess that too often we are afraid, we 
do not wait on you to provide. Forgive us. Let us 

count on you for everything. Break down our fear. 

Lord, help us not to squander this season in 
fear and paralysis. Your Word is a lamp to our feet 

and a light to our path. Help us to follow you, not 

run ahead or fall behind.

Forgive us for seeking our consolation rather 
than your presence.

Father we need wisdom to know what your 
will is for us in this season and courage to obey 

without hesitation. We humble ourselves and we 

seek your face, Lord. 

Lord, we surrender to your will and to your 
timing. Help us to be patient. 

Our Father, we come before you as your 
children, asking that you show us grace and 

mercy. Give us new eyes to see what you’re 

doing. Fill us with your Spirit of hope. Help us to 

see the opportunities to reach our world in new 

ways. Fill us with love, so that we might be your 

instruments of hope and joy in a fearful world.

Lord, give us a fresh sense of mission in this 
time, give us new creative thoughts and ideas for 

advancing your Kingdom.

Lord, help us to boldly enter the new doors 
that you have opened for us. Draw people into 

relationship with your Son. Pour out your Spirit in 

greater ways so that people would seek you and 

call on your name.

Thank you that our way is not hidden from you, 
nor is our cause disregarded by you. Help us to 

persevere in this season. Help us not to confuse 

our causes with yours. 

Lord, in this time of chaos and disruption, may 
your church embody the good news of living hope 

found in Jesus.

We pray for more and more of your Spirit to 
empower us and give us the faith to trust you and 

the courage to walk in your ways.

Lord, build your Church! Draw people into your 
grace and make us bold to proclaim the marvels 

of your love and forgiveness. 

AMEN.

FROM THE BCMB 
2020 CONVENTION
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Dear BCMB Family,

     Our team felt so honored to share Posture 
Shift Intensive with you in November 2020. It is 

not a small thing to be invited into a denomination 

— as an outsider, so to speak — and to be 

received with such a generous welcome. Our 

effort to enhance church and faith experiences 

for LGBT+ people is complex, so it was notable 

how much grace and appreciation you genuinely 

extended to our team. 

     It was most striking how much passion and 

creativity that BCMB leaders invested into Posture 

Shift. The “people studies’’ get very complicated, 

yet each of you pressed into creative idea 

generation with passion and thoughtfulness. 

That’s what we want to happen every time — and 

honestly, it doesn’t always happen. You invested 

your whole heart and mind for the sake of the 

gospel! 

     Our team left the event filled with joy and 

confidence that your leaders can build a new 

church history where Christian churches and 

homes are the safest places for LGBT+ loved ones. 

 

Gratefully in Christ,

Bill Henson, President
Posture Shift Ministries, Inc.

postureshift.com

“I certainly came away with greater compassion, 

sensitivity, and understanding of the LGBT+ 

community...I feel the awkwardness has been 

removed and now I can embrace situations, 

conversations, and relationships with the love of 

Jesus leading the way.”

Curtis Tulman, Associate Pastor, Willow Park Church

“Our decisions as a church need to combine 

both love and truth towards LGBT+ people. All 

should be treated with dignity and respect and 

shown the compassion of Jesus Christ when 

attending our churches. Believers who are drawn 

to the same sex, yet remain celibate, need 

our encouragement, prayer, and mentoring if 

necessary.”

Barry Ashton, Elder, Northview Community Church

 

“I valued the distinction between position and 

posture and how we hesitate to review or 

evaluate our posture because we fear that by 

doing so we will change our position.”

Walter Wiens, Pastor of Care, Clearbrook MB Church

“This conference was absolutely transformative 

for me. I thought I was doing a good job at 

loving the LGBT+ kids in my youth group but I 

never understood the subject from a people-

perspective, only as an issue...I feel like I have 

a chance to undo some of the damage I did 

through my silence. I am so excited to continue 

to walk with these kids. God’s love for them is in 

my heart and I’m praying and believing for their 

salvation.”

David Chelini, Youth Pastor, Westwood MB Church

“One of my key learnings from the conference 

was the importance of language. We are currently 

working with a couple of families that are walking 

this journey out, and I am more conscious of how 

my words affect both the LGBT+ individual and 

their families.” 

Lyndon Plett, Associate Pastor, Central Heights Church

“We need to contextualize the gospel better 

for LGBT+ people just as we would for those 

in other cultures. It starts by taking a listener/

learner posture before we become teachers/

tellers. We need to build significant rapport with 

LGBT+ people to show them a God of both love 

and truth...Posture Shift did well in clarifying how 

those who are same sex attracted are to live 

celibate lives...yet, the ideological beliefs behind 

our culture’s stance on sexual orientation and 

gender identity was not addressed as I hoped it 

would’ve been.” 

Sean Hildebrand, Pastoral Intern, Northview 

Community Church

If you missed this 
event, use coupon code 
SEMINAR20 to save on 
Posture Shift Digital 
Seminar at postureshift.
com/digital. Or pick up 
the Guiding Families book 
at guidingfamilies.com     

POSTURESHIFT
REFLECTIONS
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Jesus at the Centre of Everything
Colossians 1:17

We see ourselves first and foremost as 

followers of Jesus Christ. We are a people 

redeemed and justified by Christ’s atoning 

death and victorious resurrection. We now seek 

to put His life and teaching at the centre of our 

lives as we:

• read the Bible, illuminated by Jesus’ life 

and work

• discern our ethics through the lens of 

Jesus’ example

• worship God, radiantly revealed in Jesus 

Christ

• experience community created by Jesus’ 

indwelling Spirit

• live out God’s gospel mission with Jesus’ 

authority and power.

Preaching and Discipleship Shaped by 
Scripture 
Psalm 119:105, 2 Timothy 3:16-17, 4:2

God’s Word, the Bible, is our functional and final 

authority for faith and life. We read, understand, 

and obey the Bible in the context of community. 

We value both the ministry of preaching 

and teaching the Scripture, as well as the 

participation of each member of the community 

as we search the Scriptures to discern God’s 

will and leading together. Our churches place a 

high value on equipping people to think biblically 

about our world.

Community Formed by the Holy Spirit 
John 16, 1 Corinthians 12, Galatians 5

Our common experience of the living Spirit 

of Jesus filling our lives, and our gatherings, 

generates the holy character of Jesus within 

us and motivates us to live lives of worship and 

mission. Our prayer life is an essential link by 

which the Lordship of Christ and leading of the 

Spirit is cultivated. The gifts and fruit of the Spirit 

at work in our lives build up the church, empower 

us in mission, and allow us to live in gracious 

accountability. 

UNDERSTANDINGS
COMMON

A Church that is on Mission 
Genesis 12:1-3, Matthew 28:18-20, Acts 1:8

God, who came into this world to seek and to 

save the lost and to set the captives free, is now 

sending His people out with the same mission. 

Through prayer we receive power and guidance 

to participate in God’s redemptive mission. Both 

locally and globally, we empower and support 

one another to preach and live the gospel of 

Jesus Christ. 

A Church that Reflects Jesus 
Transforming Life 
1 Peter 2, John 13:14

Following Jesus means we practice justice, 

generosity, and peace-making in our 

relationships and in our community engagement. 

Our allegiance to the Kingdom of God 

commissions us to live selflessly, as visible 

reminders of God’s love and goodness, and 

to seek the peace and well-being of our 

society. We glorify God by being creative 

and careful stewards of culture, by speaking 

prophetically against idolatry, and by enduring 

the persecution and sacrifice to which Christ 

calls us.

A Church that Serves in an 
Atmosphere of Cooperation and 
Accountability 
Hebrews 10:25, Philippians 2:2

Our collective commitment is that each 

church will give expression to these common 

understandings in a culturally relevant manner 

and will seek to remain supportive and 

engaged with the wider Mennonite Brethren 

family and its ministries. Belonging to this 

family includes affirming our Confession of 

Faith, pastoral credentialing, and engaging 

Mennonite Brethren agencies and ministries 

with financial support and participation. 

The statement below describes the ethos and priorities that we, as Mennonite Brethren churches 

in British Columbia, share and to which we aspire. It is intended to encourage, guide, and inspire 

one another to greater faithfulness and effectiveness, and promote understanding for those who 

are new to our fellowship. 

Our Mennonite Brethren Confession of Faith remains the authorized and comprehensive doctrinal 

foundation upon which these understandings are built. 
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RULES OF ORDER
ONLINE MEETINGfor an

1. We strive for unity and respect, involving 

the participation of all assembled, as we 

deliberate decisions that shape the future of 

our Conference.

2. During an open question period, you may 

indicate that you would like to speak by 

clicking on the “Raise Hand” function in Zoom. 

      Please use the following protocol:

• Wait for acknowledgment by the 

moderator and for your microphone to 

be turned on.

• State your name, church, and the 

community you come from.

• Address the moderator. Delegates may 

not dialogue with each other during 

question period.

3. Keep remarks to the point. Avoid repeating 

statements already made by another 

delegate.

4. Take care to confine remarks to the motion or 

resolution under discussion.

5. A delegate may speak to an issue more than 

once unless there are other delegates who 

wish to address an issue. A delegate should 

not ask for the floor more than three times on 

one issue. The mover of a motion may answer 

questions as often as they are raised.

6. Individuals other than delegates may be 

permitted to speak, subject to the decision 

of the moderator. The assembled delegates 

may, by a simple majority vote, override the 

decision of the chair. 

7. Only delegates are permitted to vote.

8. For online delegates, the “Digital Voting 

Policy for Conventions of the Conference” 

will be followed. Additional instructions may 

be provided by the moderator regarding any 

other meeting procedures required by online 

delegates.

9. In general, Robert’s Rules of Order will be 

followed.
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1. That all ministry reports be approved.

2. That the B.C. Conference of Mennonite 

Brethren Churches release Artisan Church 

from membership. 

3. That the 2021 BCMB budget be set at 

$2,100,000.00.

4. That the 2022 BCMB budget be set at 

$2,340,000.00.

5. That the audited financial statements, 

prepared by Loewen Kruse Chartered 

Accountants for the fiscal year 2020, be 

approved as presented.

6. That we appoint Loewen Kruse Chartered 

Accountants as the accounting firm to 

perform an audit of the financial records 

and prepare the financial statements for 

the year 2021.

7. That the BCMB bylaws be approved as 

presented.

8. That the B.C. Conference of Mennonite 

Brethren Churches affirms and approves the 

nomination slate as presented.

2021 CONVENTION 
RECOMMENDATIONS
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     As I reflect on 2020, I think of Peter’s 

perspective on trials and their results in our lives: 

trials that prove the genuineness of our faith, 

trials that refine us as gold is refined through fire, 

trials that bring us deeper into the love we have 

for Jesus and help us to focus on our inheritance 

in Christ.

     This past year has been a time of many trials 

for us individually, in our local churches, and 

as a Mennonite Brethren family. Perhaps the 

greatest gift we have individually and corporately 

received through the course of this difficult year 

is experiencing the longing for the fellowship of 

believers. 

     When churches were first closed, staff were 

laid off and worship services moved online. At 

first, it was manageable. Each church found 

a path forward to meaningfully connect with 

their community. For a short time, we gathered 

in groups of 50 — distant but together. As the 

2nd wave of COVID-19 came over B.C., we 

experienced new levels of exhaustion and longed 

to gather together. Through all of this refining, we 

have found that the faithful and obedient within 

our church families continue to serve each other, 

love each other, and support the ministry of their 

local church family.

     Around us, we are experiencing an ever-

increasing differentiation from the culture we 

live in. Shifting views now bring into question 

the value of our churches and camp ministry to 

the communities in which we live and serve. Our 

camps’ community influence, our church taxes, 

and tax deductions are openly questioned by 

those who live alongside us. The provincial health 

regulations that allow for non-religious gatherings 

but not religious gatherings, increase our sense of 

being misunderstood in our communities.

The Financial Impact

     At the 2020 BCMB Convention, we struggled 

as a BCMB family to navigate an appropriate 

budget as we faced the first months of financial 

uncertainty brought about by the COVID-19 

pandemic. Like each local church, we have 

operated with great caution in order to remain 

financially viable. BCMB has no source of 

by Sharon Simpson, Executive Board

MODERATOR’S
REPORT

“Perhaps the greatest gift 
we have received through 
the course of this difficult 
year is experiencing the 
longing for the fellowship 
of believers.”

revenue other than the financial giving of the 

member churches. We are particularly aware 

of the individual donors who also faced an 

unprecedented year of challenge and responded 

with generosity and sacrifice as their act of 

worship, surrender, and trust in God’s provision. 

This, too, was a gift to experience. Thanks be to 

God for all the faithful individuals who choose 

obedience in times of refining.

Executive Staff & National Ministry

     Your financial giving to BCMB signals your 

caring support of each other in this family, 

church-to-church. You do this through the BCMB 

executive staff and through our ministry partners. 
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The BCMB executive staff spend their days 

supporting you, the churches and leaders within 

our family. They are dedicated to helping meet 

both your practical and spiritual needs, and for 

this, we are grateful.

     The executive staff are also dedicated to the 

collaborative work of the National Ministry Team 

who is working strategically to put into action the 

Collaborative Model which was widely approved 

by the Canadian Mennonite Brethren family. 

A significant work is the development of the 

Collaborative Unified Strategic Plan (CUSP) that 

will clarify our mission as Canadian Mennonite 

Brethren. The National Council meetings have 

been a rich and engaged time for provincial and 

national leaders to connect and work through the 

national bylaws and the CUSP. 

     This year, BCMB churches’ financial support 

of the national ministry transitioned to One-

Stream funding which has helped to ensure the 

ongoing and vital work of the national ministry. 

The BCMB Executive Board extends gratitude to 

our provincial BCMB executive staff, Rob Thiessen, 

Denis Federau, Connie Dyck and the BCMB team 

for their faithful service during this especially 

difficult year. For several years, we have been 

seeking God’s timing to add a third member to the 

executive staff team and, with your support, we 

believe 2021 is the year for that additional position 

in the area of church renewal and church growth.

Ministry Partners

     Your church’s financial support signals to 

our three ministry partners — BCMB Bible Camp 

Society, Columbia Bible College (CBC), and the 

Church Planting Task Force — our shared belief in 

the value of their ministries and our determination 

for them to thrive. 

     Our five camps struggled throughout the 

pandemic and have had to be very creative in 

their efforts to stay solvent, including developing 

new programs and reducing staff. Three of our 

camps requested financial assistance from 

CCMBC Legacy which they have not needed to 

use until recently. We thank God for providing 

both leadership and funds for our camps and that 

there is hope for ongoing camp ministry in 2021. 

Camp ministry in B.C. is one of our key ministries 

for evangelism and leadership development. We 

are grateful for the ongoing faithful contribution 

of our BCMB Bible Camp Society Executive Board 

members, Jon Kornelsen and Bob Kroeker.

     Columbia Bible College reports a similarly 

difficult journey of trusting God to provide during 

this unpredictable pandemic year. CBC is our 

partner in training up the next generation of 

believers in faith, ministry skills, and theological 

foundations. Please continue your support of 

CBC as they weather the ongoing financial 

impact of the pandemic. We are grateful for the 

faithful contribution of our CBC Executive Board 

members, Lorne Welwood and Bryan Born.

     With the C2C demerger, BCMB formed 

a Church Planting Task Force to oversee the 

ongoing church planting initiatives and make 

recommendations for the future growth of the 

BCMB family. In 2020, we were grateful to 

provide, on your behalf, financial support to two 

new church initiatives — Midtown Church, planted 

with the blessing of Culloden Mennonite Brethren 

in Vancouver, and Praxis Church in Kelowna. The 

BCMB Executive Board is grateful for Phil Collins 

who serves as chair of this task force and his 

ongoing vision for evangelism, church renewal, 

and church planting. Thank you, also, to the 

task force members whose hearts are deeply 

motivated by the call and ministry to plant local 

communities of believers throughout our province.

“We are eager to follow 
the Holy Spirit’s leading as 
He opens our eyes, hearts, 
and minds to the new 
ways He will continue to 
guide His church.”

Committees

     As Moderator, I am grateful to lead a devoted 

and faithful Executive Board with six engaged 

committees. The Stewardship Advisory Committee 

has done the important work of vetting the 

requests for additional or emergency funding 

during this pandemic. They have provided detailed 

briefing notes to the Executive Board to outline 

the requests, the mitigating circumstances, and 

the alternate options for those seeking support. 

Thank you to Ron Born who has faithfully brought 

his knowledge and experience into each financial 

situation as chair of this committee. We are 

grateful for the members of the committee who 

bring their financial acumen to the needs of the 

local church. 
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     Thank you to the Governance Committee 

who have worked diligently on the wording of 

the BCMB bylaws. After concerns were raised at 

the 2020 BCMB Convention, the committee held 

Townhalls to receive your input into the bylaw 

revisions in preparation for this year’s presentation. 

Additionally, they have worked with CCMBC to align 

the bylaws where they intersect. Thank you to the 

Governance Committee, led by Lorne Welwood, for 

your work in bringing our bylaws to the place where 

they more accurately depict our current practice of 

ministry with one other.

     The Nominations Committee, led by Laurence 

Matzek, understands the BCMB Executive Board’s 

desire to bring people onto boards and committees 

who have complementary skills and who reflect 

the makeup of our BCMB family. Zoom meetings 

have made the work of the BCMB Executive Board 

more accessible to those who live in the Okanagan, 

Vancouver, Vancouver Island, and northern B.C. We 

also look forward to having a member-at-large from 

the Chinese Mennonite Brethren churches join our 

Executive Board in 2021.

     Thank you to Wes Dahl, the chair of the Pastoral 

Ministries Committee (PMC), who reports that 15 

pastors were credentialed from September 2020 

to February 2021. As we continue to navigate our 

spectrum of theology within the Mennonite Brethren 

family, the PMC plays a significant role in speaking 

into the various theological viewpoints that are 

represented under the BCMB umbrella. We thank 

the PMC for their engaged and discerning work and 

their gifts of theological understanding and Spirit-

led wisdom.

     I also want to thank Laurence Matzek and Sandi 

Reutlinger for their service as Vice-Moderator and 

Secretary. We meet monthly with the executive staff 

to navigate and plan together, praying that God 

will continue to lead us as we lead within the BCMB 

family.

     The BCMB Executive Board worked and prayed 

together over the Strategic Plan that is provided for 

you in the BCMB Convention Delegate Package. We 

ask, as always, for feedback as we continue to seek 

God’s heart for the BCMB churches. 

Refining

     The COVID-19 pandemic has pushed us into new 

ways of doing church, caring for our communities, 

and sharing the good news of Jesus’ enduring love 

and forgiveness. We are eager to follow the Holy 

Spirit’s leading as He opens our eyes, hearts, and 

minds to the new ways He will continue to guide His 

church.

     This pandemic year has been refining for us 

individually and corporately. We are thankful for 

the BCMB church family and your resolve to follow 

the leading of the Spirit. It has revealed the proven 

genuineness of faith in you and in the people who 

lead on the BCMB executive staff and Executive 

Board. This genuine faith is worth more than 

perishable gold. May God bless you with joy and 

grow our churches, pastors, and each member who 

serves in faithful obedience and response to the 

Holy Spirit.

GENUINENESS 
OF YOUR

FAITH MORE
PRECIOUS 
THAN GOLD
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by Rob Thiessen

     Over the past 12 months, we have all struggled 

in multiple ways and those serving in hospitals and 

care homes have carried a heavier load than the 

rest. Reviewing the challenges we’ve experienced 

would be unhelpful and discouraging. Instead, 

here are several highlights from 2020, my 9th year 

serving as Conference Minister:

• Churches from across B.C. participated in the 

first virtual BCMB Convention in April 2020 

and many lessons were learned and shared 

with our churches to help them improve their 

experience with the online format.

• We increased communication with churches 

by doubling the number of newsletters and 

podcasts provided to pastors.

• Online prayer gatherings were initiated with 

pastors across B.C. and nationally (168 pastors 

participated in national prayer gatherings 

hosted by Ingrid Reichard).

• We engaged monthly with churches in pastoral 

transition.

• The BCMB Bible Camp Society was assisted in 

fundraising efforts.

• Individual pastors were mentored.

• Pastors and churches were supported through 

COVID-19 restrictions and guidelines.

• Conflict resolution and mediation were 

provided.

• Online preaching invitations were fulfilled for 

various churches.

• An online Posture Shift conference was 

hosted in November for pastors and leaders 

to engage with how to love the LGBT+ 

community.

CONFERENCE
MINISTER’S
REPORT

     The BCMB Strategic Plan continues to guide 

my priorities, however, 2020 was dominated by 

more crisis response and reaction than any other 

I have experienced. Here are a few examples of 

forward movement in the key areas of our BCMB 

Strategic Plan:

Theological & Spiritual

• BCMB worked with other provincial leaders 

and CCMBC to present a pastoral wellness 

seminar that encouraged many pastors across 

Canada.

• BCMB hosted and facilitated online prayer 

with churches and others agencies.

• BCMB staff contributed significantly to the 

work of the National Faith and Life Team 

as they sought to address alignment with 

our Confession of Faith among pastors and 

churches across Canada.

• BCMB staff engaged with pastors and 

churches on the topics of baptism and 

membership.

• BCMB staff engaged with pastors and church 

leadership around LGBT+ matters.

Leadership

• BCMB hosted four networking gatherings 

where church leaders shared creative 

ideas for outreach and mission through the 

pandemic season.

• BCMB hosted HR seminars.

• BCMB supported churches through pastoral 

transition.

• BCMB engaged with MB Seminary.
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Mission

• BCMB worked with Multiply to facilitate new 

initiatives for churches to engage young 

adults in faith and mission.

• BCMB engaged regularly with our five camps 

to empower and support them.

• BCMB staff assisted church planting initiatives 

with Midtown Church in Vancouver, Praxis 

Church in Kelowna, and Wine Press Church in 

Penticton.

• BCMB hosted a Posture Shift online 

conference to equip leaders to think 

missionally as they engage with society.

 

“A rock climber sets an 
anchor as a secure base 
from which to ascend 
further. Jesus is the 
anchor for our soul, 
firm and secure. We can 
face the climb before 
us with confidence and 
courage in Him. ”

     As we move forward into this year when (Lord 

willing) we will be able to gather again in person, 

I expect we will all feel a rush of excitement and 

joy. In our enthusiasm and anticipation, let us not 

forget the lessons God has been trying to teach 

us through this season. Through the pandemic, 

the Lord has exposed our over-dependence on 

Sunday morning services where too many come 

to be entertained and too few are willing to take 

up the cross of Jesus for daily living. We have an 

opportunity to clarify the cost of discipleship and 

reframe what it means to be a member of the 

body of Christ.

     We have also been thrust into a variety 

of ministry modalities that many of us never 

considered before. Online services, micro-

congregations of 50 or less, and home churches 

are now all viable and accessible options for us. 

I believe that there is a great harvest opportunity 

unfolding for our churches in the days ahead. I 

am very encouraged that our Church Planting 

Task Force will be transitioning into a standing 

committee for our BCMB family devoted to 

renewal evangelism and multiplication.

     Our theme this year combines two seemingly 

conflicting pictures. That of an anchor and of 

moving forward! I have set a few boat anchors in 

my time and I know what the point of them is…not 

moving! But there is another kind of anchor for us 

to consider. A rock climber sets an anchor in the 

face of the rock and uses that anchor as a secure 

base from which to ascend further. Jesus is the 

anchor for our soul, firm and secure. We can face 

the climb before us with confidence and courage 

in Him.

DEVELOPING
LEADERS
Identifying, developing and 
supporting leaders to ensure 
the continuation of mission

BUILDING
COMMUNITY
Fostering our theological 
identity and relationships, 
nurturing healthy 
accountability and partnerships

MULTIPLYING
CHURCHES
Planting and multiplying 
disciple-making churches and 
enabling missional opportuni-
ties

RESOURCING
MINISTRIES

O�ering resources and tools to 
churches and organizations to 

help them achieve their mission

Our Mission is to multiply Christ-centred
churches to see the people of BC transformed 

by the good news of Jesus Christ

Ministry Model
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by Denis Federau

     In Matthew 14 we read of the feeding of the 

5,000. Faced with what seemed to the disciples 

as an insurmountable mathematical challenge 

of feeding 5,000 men (plus women and children) 

with only five loaves of bread and two fish, Jesus 

simply says, “bring them here to me” (Matt. 14:18). 

The Merriam-Webster definition of multiplication 

states that there are “other or larger sets of 

elements” that contribute to multiplication. In the 

context of God’s Kingdom, that “other or larger 

sets of elements” is Jesus.

     The ratio of multiplication for the feeding of 

the 5,000 would have been around 1,000 to 1, 

assuming about 10,000 people being fed, and five 

loaves of bread and two fish feeding 10 people. 

This means that if I gave Jesus $100, he could 

increase it to $100,000. Or, using the $1,776,000 

that our churches forwarded to BCMB for the 

ministries of our Conference in 2020, and multiply 

that by 1,000, the potential impact could be $1.776 

billion! That’s right, billion!

     Imagine what Jesus can do with our gifts if we 

simply ‘bring them to Him’? If there is anything I’ve 

learned from the impact the COVID-19 pandemic 

has had on our churches in 2020, it’s that the 

restrictions are no match for what Jesus can do! 

There is simply no stopping Jesus’ advancement of 

His Kingdom.

     A testament to this is seen in how God 

provided for us in 2020. We ended the year with 

a healthy surplus. This was possible because of 

God’s faithfulness and your generosity, coupled 

with implementing some austerity measures at 

the beginning of last year to mitigate the impact 

of COVID-19. But God’s faithfulness has been 

evident in other areas as well. And even though 

we had to scale back our operations to reduce 

DIRECTOR OF RESOURCE 
MINISTRY’S REPORT

“Imagine what Jesus can do 
with our gifts if we simply 
‘bring them to Him’? ...There 
is simply no stopping 
Jesus’ advancement of His 
Kingdom.”

expenses, we continued to provide essential and 

strategic resources to our churches.

     For example, in September 2020, we 

organized a wellness seminar with Dr. Rod 

Wilson and Bonita Eby. This was a wonderful 

event organized by all of our MB conferences 

across Canada and offered timely and necessary 

resources for our pastors and leaders to focus on 

self-care and prevent burnout as they continued 

to navigate the challenges due to COVID-19. If 

you were not able to participate in this event, 

you can find a recording on the CCMBC website. 

We are currently organizing a follow-up wellness 

seminar later this year, so stay tuned.

     Our office was also busy providing ongoing 

updates on the various resources and guidelines 

that were coming from our provincial and federal 

governments to help churches as a result of the 

pandemic. This was not always easy as it seemed 

to be a moving target.

     Another key resource we were able to provide 

our churches was in the area of Human Resources. 

We covered areas related to employment law, 

Multiplication 
Noun: any of various mathematical operations that are 
analogous in some way to multiplication of the real numbers 
but are defined for other or larger sets of elements 
(such as complex numbers, vectors, matrices, or functions).
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human rights issues, and privacy laws. We are 

also creating a follow-up seminar on crisis 

communication for later this year, similar to the 

one we hosted in 2019.

      One of the highlights we look forward to every 

year is our Pastor & Spouse Retreat. Last year, we 

were forced to cancel this event due to COVID-19 

restrictions. However, this year, even though we 

still live under similar restrictions, we’ve adapted 

the retreat so we can still offer a few days of 

much-needed time away and R&R for our pastors 

and their spouses. Even though we may not be 

able to be together for corporate worship, we are 

working hard to provide a similar atmosphere of 

fun and encouragement for our participants. Stay 

tuned for more details to come soon.

     Another major milestone this past year was 

the implementation of our One-Stream funding 

model. As we continue to collaborate with our 

sister provincial Conferences and CCMBC, our 

goal is to increase and expand our partnerships 

and focus on evangelistic ministries for national 

and international impact.

     However, our commitment to support our 

ministries starts at home. 2020 was a difficult 

year for our camps, college, and church planting 

ministries. The ongoing restrictions due to the 

pandemic continue to have a serious impact 

on their operations. Therefore, as you will see 

in this convention booklet, we are proposing 

to increase funding to all three ministries. This 

requires your ongoing commitment and support. 

We are confident that the vision God has given us 

to promote Kingdom growth through our camps, 

college, and church planting efforts, will resonate 

with you and spur you on to continue your faithful 

support. For this year, we have committed to 

send 68% of the funds we receive directly to our 

ministry partners, including CCMBC. 

“We are working hard to 
unify our efforts so that you, 
as a church, have all the 
resources necessary for the 
right soil for multiplication.”

     Our desire is to continue strengthening the 

relationship between churches and ministry 

partners, both provincially and nationally. We are 

working hard to unify our efforts so that you, as a 

church, have all the resources necessary for the 

right soil for multiplication.

“As for what was sown on good soil, this is 
the one who hears the word and understands 
it. He indeed bears fruit and yields, in one 
case a hundredfold, in another sixty, and in 
another thirty.” 
Matthew 13:23
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by Wes Dahl, Chair

     The year 2020 will be remembered with an 

asterisk beside it. COVID-19 changed our lives 

and how we do church within our buildings. It was 

a year that highlighted the critical importance 

of fellowship and community. Recently, God 

reminded me through Scripture just how big and 

gracious He is.

 

“God can do anything, you know — far more than 

you could ever imagine or guess or request in your 

wildest dreams!” Ephesians 3:20, The Message

 

     The Pastoral Ministries Committee (PMC) 

oversees the credentialing of our pastors and 

leaders in the BCMB Conference. It is a delight to 

see the heart, passion, and desire each individual 

we interview has to serve Christ and His Church.

     When we interview candidates for 

credentialing, we have a responsibility to test 

but also to encourage them. Our goal is for 

the candidates to have long, productive, and 

engaging ministries within the life of the Church. 

     Because of COVID-19 and the province-

wide lockdown, we suspended all credentialing 

meetings in the spring. In September, we realized 

that we would have to use Zoom to interview 

our candidates. This was not ideal, but we 

made it work. The following list is a record of all 

credentialed individuals from September 2020 to 

February 2021:

Sean Hildebrand 
Missions Pastoral Intern

Northview Community Church

Bobby Rau 

Associate Pastor of Community Life

Ross Road Community Church

John Hau 
Lead Pastor 

Reality Vancouver Church

Steve Klassen 

Lead Pastor

Abbotsford Community Church

Calvin Capostinsky
Lay Pastor

Bakerview Church

PASTORAL
 MINISTERIES 
  COMMITTEE

Scott Tolhurst
Lead Pastor

Clearbrook MB Church

Dwight Stevens
Children’s Pastor

Northview Community Church

Fredy Orozco 

Discipleship Pastoral Intern

Northview Community Church

William Liu 
Assistant Pastor 

Richmond Pacific Grace MB Church

Jesse Schellenberg 

Mission Campus Pastor  

Northview Community Church

Joel Lise
Pastor of Worship Ministry

Kelowna Gospel Fellowship Church

Brian Martin
Lead Pastor

Discovery Community Church

Vinh Doan 
Pastor of Young Adults

Northview Community Church

Ben Steele 
Youth Pastor

Black Creek Community Church

Brandt Vanroekel 
Lead Pastor

Christ City Kitsilano Church

“Our goal is for the 
candidates to have long, 
productive, and engaging 
ministries within the life of 
the Church.”

     The committee for 2020-2021 is composed of 

the following members: Wes Dahl (Chair), Eldon 

Fehr (Secretary), Christine Kampen, Gary Simpson, 

Ken Peters, Trevor Stearns, Craig Reimer, Ken 

Esau, and Rob Thiessen (Conference Minister). We 

serve as one person trusting the Lord in fulfilling 

our duties and decision-making. The committee 

rejoices with the candidates when they do well 

and encourages them when they struggle. We 

also prayerfully share the joys and challenges in 

their ministries and personal lives.

     There is often a weight that comes with the 

responsibility of giving oversight to pastors and 

churches. What is heartening in tough situations 

is that the Church is not ours, it is Christ’s Church. 

We belong to Him. 

God can do anything, you know — far more than 

you could ever imagine or guess or request in 

your wildest dreams! He does it not by pushing us 

around but by working within us, his Spirit deeply 

and gently within us.

Glory to God in the church!

Glory to God in the Messiah, in Jesus!

Glory down all the generations!

Glory through all millennia! Oh, yes!

 

Ephesians 3:20-21, The Message
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by Phil Collins, Chair

     The restrictions put into place because of 

COVID-19 over the last year have affected 

every area of church life. However, despite the 

difficulties we’ve faced, the Church Planting Task 

Force has made significant progress over the past 

twelve months. The task force has worked well 

together and each member brought their gifts 

and experiences to the table, displaying a high 

level of unity and vision.

     The work of the task force has centred around 

supporting and guiding existing church plants and 

connecting with both past and present planters. 

We have also engaged in extensive conversations 

around evangelism as we recognize that healthy 

faith communities are both evangelistic and 

planting other churches. 

     In evaluating which churches are ready for 

multiplication, mission and evangelism are key. 

Serving in both word and deed is critical in 

reaching out to our neighbourhoods and building 

bridges within our communities. 

     We need a holistic approach when it comes 

to multiplication. As Ephesians 4:12 says, “Christ 

himself gave the apostles, the prophets, the 

evangelists, the pastors and teachers to equip his 

people for works of service, so that the body of 

Christ may be built up.”

     This includes training believers to feel at ease 

about sharing Jesus, the gospel, and their faith 

in a natural and engaging way. It also requires 

community connection to develop trust and new 

ways of reaching out. 

     Multiplication depends upon church 

health, abiding communities committed to 

prayer, effective and healthy leadership, life 

transformation, justice, service, and character. 

     To activate multiplication, we will need to step 

more fully into online platforms for training and 

turn up the spiritual heat around multiplication. 

We must consider the creation of BCMB specific 

resources, and understand new trends and good 

practices from our MB family around the world.

CHURCH PLANTING
TASK FORCE 

New Church Plants

     As a local church pastor, I am motivated by 

what we can achieve as a BCMB family. Certainly, 

when it comes to church planting, we have been 

encouraged. Firstly, we have seen the preparation 

and planting of the new church, Praxis, in 

Kelowna. This new faith community is supported by 

Northview, Westside, the BCMB conference, and 

other churches. 

     Josh Dool has received a passionate and 

compelling call to the Okanagan. Josh brings a 

rich enthusiasm for evangelism and reaching the 

unreached in the city of Kelowna. 

“Multiplication depends 
upon church health, 
abiding communities 
committed to prayer, 
effective and healthy 
leadership, life 
transformation, justice, 
service, and character.”

Josh & Rebekah Dool



34 35
BCMB CONVENTION 2021 FOLLOWING JESUS FORWARD >>>

     While Kelowna has several churches, it still 

has many people who have no church connection 

or faith. It is a city of extremes and in need 

of evangelism. Josh, who moved to Kelowna 

with his family, is building his launch team and 

working hard to develop a strong foundation. His 

extensive experience working in Vancouver and 

serving at Westside has prepared him for the new 

church plant. Josh aims to start gathering in the 

summer. As a BCMB family, we have committed to 

supporting Josh and the Praxis community for the 

next three years.

Looking Ahead

     Prayer and strategic thinking need to be 

focused on closed churches, as buildings still 

stand empty in Dawson Creek, New Hazelton, 

Keremeos, and Penticton.

     Concerning Penticton, it was determined by 

the Church Planting Task Force that Winepress 

Church was not in alignment with our BCMB family 

values, and the step was taken to change our 

formal relationship. We continue to stand with 

Shane Fox and want to see the right support and 

family of churches around him and the Winepress 

community. Our financial support concludes in 

May. We are anticipating that an evangelical 

church will continue to emerge in Penticton, which 

we rejoice in. 

     The task force continues to focus on policies 

for church plants and criteria for planters, 

so that as a conference, we are clear on our 

expectations as we move forward. We are also 

encouraged by Northview’s support with their 

assessment center for church planters under the 

leadership of Mark Burch. This resource is such 

a great help as we process new applicants. I 

want to thank the task force for their work and 

participation and Rob Theissen for his leadership 

through what has been a very challenging twelve 

months for all churches in B.C.

     Secondly, Norm Funk launched Midtown 

Church in January 2021. Many of us know Norm 

and he brings a wealth of experience as a 

veteran leader and church planter. As a task 

force we applaud Norm’s ongoing confidence 

and belief in the gospel’s power to change lives 

and his commitment to building the Church. I 

rejoice in the remarkable story of the closure of 

one church and its rebirth as Midtown. We have 

agreed to support Midtown moving forward.

“To activate multiplication, 
we will need to step more 
fully into online platforms 
for training and turn up 
the spiritual heat around 
multiplication.”

“The task force continues 
to focus on policies for 
church plants and criteria 
for planters, so that as a 
conference, we are clear 
on our expectations as we 
move forward.”
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by Bob “Ranger” Kroeker, Executive Director

     Thank You! There is no other way to start this 

report than by saying, thank you! I am grateful 

that God continues — through His people, His 

churches, and His conference — to provide for 

the needs of all five of our camps in B.C. As it 

has been for everyone, the last year has been 

full of challenges and change. It has also been a 

year where we’ve experienced God’s presence, 

goodness, and grace. 

     As I look back at our conference reports from 

last year, COVID-19 was certainly mentioned, 

but we had no idea of the impact it would 

have. Most of our camps had to lay off staff 

and there were very few campers or guests, if 

any, this past summer. And yet, God was still at 

work and ministry was happening in the areas 

of evangelism, discipleship, and leadership 

development.

     We were able to build relationships and 

actually share the good news of Jesus with some 

of our guests who were simply renting our cabins. 

Families from many different backgrounds and 

religions, who would normally not come to our 

camps (nor would we have had room for them), 

were able to experience Christ in a whole new 

way.

     In spite of the forced schedule changes 

this year, four of our camps were able to make 

significant headway on several projects:

• The Fellowship of Christian Camps in B.C. 

had their annual work party at Camp Likely. 

Approximately 40 people spent a week at 

Likely demolishing an old bunkhouse, preparing 

inground services, finishing the exterior and 

interior of three new cabins, and moving them 

into place. What a blessing!

• Camp Bob was able to finish their new water 

system as well as several other upgrades. 

Having no campers on site in the summer 

made this much easier.

• Gardom Lake finished their new lodge 

addition and it looks great! Again, with no 

campers on site it made it much easier to 

close the old kitchen and finish the new one.

BCMB BIBLE 
CAMP SOCIETY 

• Stillwood was also able to make use of fewer 

people on site to take care of some much-

needed repairs, including painting and fixing 

leaks.
 
New Leadership

     We’re excited to announce that we have hired 

three new directors for our camps. Stephen and 

Andrea Jackson, who were our program directors 

at Stillwood, have taken over for Les and Val 

Klassen at Camp Bob. Stephen and Andrea 

started in the fall and will be sharing the position 

of executive director.

     A big thanks again to Les and Val for leading 

Camp Bob with passion and vision for more than 

a decade. You will be missed, and we wish you 

God’s blessing in this new chapter of your life.

     Brian Piccioni has taken over the director 

position at Camp Likely from Kate Reid. Brian 

started at the beginning of 2021 and as his 

position is part-time, he will also continue his 

current ministry role at Charis Camp. We want 

to say a big thanks as well to Kate for serving 

for over 10 years (in different positions) at Camp 

Likely. You will also be missed and we’re thankful 

for your continued service on the BCMB Bible 

Camp Society Board.
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     It would also be appropriate to thank all of 

our directors and local leadership teams for 

their skill in navigating through the past year. It 

has not been easy, and yet we do not hear any 

complaints. Instead, our leaders are leaning in, 

supporting and encouraging one another. I am 

very excited to see what God will accomplish 

through our camps as we continue to move 

forward together!

 Summer 2021

    Some of you may be wondering what our 

summer plans are. If the restrictions are similar to 

last summer, we are planning on renting out our 

facilities to families, as well as running Family and 

Day Camps. Summer staff are applying and some 

of our camp registrations are already open. We 

ask for your prayers that God would continue to 

stir His people to donate, that our camps would 

be protected this summer, and that lives would 

continue to be transformed through the good 

news of Jesus Christ.

“I am grateful that God 
continues — through His 
people, His churches, 
and His conference — to 
provide for the needs of all 
five of our camps in BC.”

How Can You Support Us?

    Prayer. Your prayers are vital as we navigate 

not only a pandemic, but also a challenging 

time in our society. Pray that we would be able 

to remain steadfast in our beliefs, while at the 

same time being able to welcome and share the 

life-changing gospel message with people of all 

backgrounds.

    Time. Please give of your time. We need 

volunteers now more than ever. We simply do not 

have the funds to pay for staff.

    Finances. We are not out of the woods, by any 

means. Without your continued generous support 

some of our camps may end up going (further) 

into debt. Every dollar that you donate helps 

children and youth come to know Jesus.

To Infinity & Beyond!

     What does the future hold? While we obviously 

can’t predict the future, we do know that working 

together as five camps alongside our provincial 

conference gives us so much potential, it’s crazy 

(crazy in camp reports is a good thing)! I firmly 

believe that camping ministry is one of our 

strongest tools for evangelism, discipleship, and 

leadership development today.

    Students are coming with their schools to our 

camps, experiencing Jesus, having a great time, 

and returning in summer where they very clearly 

hear the life-changing gospel of Jesus Christ. How 

exciting is that?

    Campers from different backgrounds and 

religions are coming to our summer camps, and as 

a result, many are coming to know Jesus in a very 

personal way.

    Our young people are being discipled and are 

learning valuable leadership skills. They are often 

given responsibility beyond their years, and by 

God’s grace (and protection!), do a great job.

     On behalf of our leaders, Stephen & Andrea 

Jackson (Camp Bob), Rikk Krieft (Gardom Lake 

Bible Camp & Retreat Centre), Brian Piccioni 

(Camp Likely), Tim Metz (Pines Bible Camp & 

Retreat Centre), and David Seeley (Stillwood 

Camp & Conference Centre), thank you, again, 

for your continued support. We desperately need 

God’s provision and your faithful investment in 

camping ministry. 

“…we will tell the 
next generation the 
praiseworthy deeds of the 
Lord, his power, and the 
wonders he has done.”
Psalm 78:4 
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CBC 2020-2021 HIGHLIGHTS

CLASS IS IN PERSON!

Having classes in-person this year has honestly been so amazing. The 
sudden switch to remote learning last year was difficult to navigate, and 
being in-person has been so great! Our classrooms are safe, and I have 
no reservations about coming to class each day. Praying with my class-
mates and professors in-person has been a huge help to my spiritual 
health. I am so thankful for all the work that CBC has done to make it 
possible for us to be in class and that we have been able to continue to 
operate in the ways we do.

CODY STEFICK
STUDENT COUNCIL PRESIDENT

campus well. I have seen God at work in so many ways. His presence has been felt in the midst of 
the fear of the unknown, and through the constant changes in Public Health Orders. Students and 
staff have continually expressed gratitude that we can function in-person. Through it all, I have felt 
God’s provision and protection over us. In a time when so many are isolated and disconnected from 
one another, we feel so fortunate to be able to learn and grow together. What a joy! What a gift!

HOPE DURING A PANDEMIC
CHRISSY FUNK, COVID CARE COORDINATOR
1985 CBC GRAD // CBC BOARD MEMBER 2016-2019

Columbia has worked hard to follow the government-mandated orders and protocol in order to 
provide a safe place of learning for our students. Columbia's COVID task force was actively at work  
covering all safety aspects regarding COVID months before the opening in September. From the  
maintenance and janitorial departments to Academics, the school worked as a team to prepare the 

Many of us spent much of the past year 
just trying to cope with all the uncer-
tainty and confusion coming our way. It 

has been no different at Columbia – masking, 
physical distancing, restrictions on gatherings, 
etc. But in the midst of the struggle, God has 
been teaching us important new lessons about 
faith, caring for one another, and resilience. In 

Ephesians 5:16, the Apostle Paul calls on his readers to “make the most of 
every opportunity.” Near the end of last year, I was thinking about how the 
COVID-19 experience has served as an opportunity to encourage growth 

in our walk with Jesus. Columbia faculty and staff have met the challenge 
face on, and continued to provide excellent discipleship and educational 
experiences to our students. Our students’ determination to keep learning 
and growing has been so inspiring. Yes, it certainly has been different this 
year, but we’re “making the most of every opportunity”!

In Christ,

BRYAN BORN, PRESIDENT

"MAKING THE MOST OF EVERY OPPORTUNITY"

We're so grateful for BCMB's faithful and generous investment 
in Columbia Bible College and for the dedicated service of BCMB 
representatives on our Board of Directors: Scott Carpenter, Kyle 
Meeker, Christine Reimer, Lorne Welwood, John Best, Marcie Kroeker, 
Kate Reid, and Brad Willems. We are so encouraged by the $318,000 
gift that BCMB donated to CBC in 2020. Your generosity empowered us 
to continue to invest in the lives of students. 

THANK YOU TO BCMB!

U R B A N  C O N N E C T I O N S
Health restrictions and the fact that many of our 
partner organizations were unable to receive 
volunteers created challenges in providing 
an immersive learning opportunity for our stu-
dents. Still, the unexpected benefit was that this 
brought us closer to Abbotsford and enabled our 
students to engage with our homeless and ad-
dicted neighbours nearby. 

Students are saying things like, “I’ve walked by 
this park dozens of times and never noticed all 
the people [homeless] – now I see them, now I 
feel like I can connect with them.” It is profoundly 
encouraging to see our students adapting beau-
tifully and discovering that justice and mercy are 
not only needed in some far off place. They now 
realize that to act Christianly is also to notice 
and love our neighbours close at hand.

NEWSWORTHY

N O R T H V I E W  &  C B C  PA R T N E R S H I P
Columbia is proud to have collaborated with 
Northview Community Church in developing a  
Ministry Apprenticeship program that allows stu-
dents to complete up to six courses (18 credits) 
toward a Church Ministry minor while engaged 
in a Northview internship. The strength of this 
partnership is that students will gain exposure 
to a wide range of ministry programs while 
accessing Columbia-accredited courses deliv-
ered on-site at Northview.   

We believe this environment will provide a rich 
context to apply skills and content from class 
in an actual ministry setting.  This program is 
ideal for those pursuing vocational ministry and 
is available to Columbia third and fourth year  
students.

I N D I A N A - W E S L E YA N  U N I V E R S I T Y 
T R A N S F E R  P R O G R A M
Columbia is partnering with Indiana Wesleyan 
University to offer a dual degree option begin-
ning in the Fall of 2021.  This partnership al-
lows students to receive a Bachelor of Arts in 
Practical Theology from Columbia alongside a 
professional degree through Indiana Wesleyan’s 
online College of Adult and Professional Studies.  
Students can select from programs in Business, 
Marketing, Communications, Management and 
Business Information Systems, among others.  
Students can remain at Columbia and take a 
combination of CBC and IWU courses over four 
years and leave with two degrees from two 
schools.  We believe this partnership prepares 
students for bi-vocational possibilities while em-
phasizing the vital connection between theology 
and practice.

THE HANDS AND FEET OF JESUS
In a year that has been dubbed “the year of the healthcare hero,”  
Columbia is playing its part! In the Health Care Assistant Pro-
gram (HCA), students learn how to holistically care for their 
patients – physically, mentally, and spiritually. “We have been 
able to learn how to treasure God’s people by the works of our 
hands, a gift that truly keeps on giving,” says Hailey Unger, a 
current student of the program. 

These grads are being the hands and feet of Jesus to their  
patients every day they show up to work. We are pleased to 
be offering another intake of the HCA Program in September of 
2021. Along with financial aid opportunities from CBC, the BC 
Ministry of Health offers generous grants to all HCA students. 
For more information, visit www.columbiabc.edu/hca.

2020-21 
ENROLLMENT STATS

CURRENT STUDENTS: 373

180 Commuters

172 Residents

21 Offsite
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UNFOLDINGEQUIPPINGDISCERNINGEDUCATINGENHANCING

SOMETHING FOR EVERYONE

Each year, as Christians 
celebrate Lent and Advent, 
MB Seminary produces our 
biannual devotional 
designed to help readers 
engage, reflect and be 
transformed by the 
Scriptures. Inspired by 
Psalm 119:130, where "the 
unfolding of your word 
brings light," authors from 
across our MB family offer 
daily insight and 
encouragement to over a 
thousand readers, 
introducing them to Jesus, 
or strengthening them in 
their spiritual journey.

We’ve all asked the question 
about how our faith should 
shape our view on a given issue. 
Our new medium, “Navigate: 
Faith and Life with MB 
Seminary,” is designed to help 
answer those questions. Our 
first event in November 
equipped our MB family across 
the country to engage with the 
question of what our response 
should be to Medical Assistance 
in Dying (MAiD). One participant 
said, “All three of the presenters 
had prepared very well and with 
the solid biblical and theological 
presentations of Doug and 
Brian, and the careful words of 
Gloria about the experience of 
working with people preparing 
to die, anyone listening had a 
very rich experience.”

Discerning God’s call can be 
one of life’s most profound 
experiences. Recently, April, a 
Therapeutic Recreation 
Specialist in Ontario, explored 
whether God is calling her to 
bi-vocational ministry. To help 
her, she enrolled in our 
Christian Leadership course 
online with MB Seminary. She 
says, “the course I took gave 
me the in-depth teachings 
and tools I needed in order to 
deepen my understanding of 
Christian leadership and how 
to apply my gifts both in my 
personal and professional 
life.”

Churches need leaders, and 
one of our core values is to 
help educate and shape 
leaders both formatively and 
theologically. Nolan is one 
such leader who has a clear 
call to ministry and is 
preparing by studying with MB 
Seminary. Unable to relocate 
to learn, our online courses 
make it possible for him to 
attain a seminary education. 
Nolan loves his studies, 
especially the ability to dive 
deeply into theological topics 
and wrestle with how they 
come together in “real life.” He 
says his “classes at MB 
Seminary have been some of 
the best he’s ever taken.”

Leaders never stop learning. 
Whether it is pursuing a 
degree or auditing a relevant 
course, MB Seminary can 
help enhance your ministry.  
For instance, Johnny is the 
pastor of Discipleship and Life 
Groups at Eastview 
Community Church in 
Winnipeg, Manitoba, and he is 
currently working toward his 
MA degree at MB Seminary. 
When asked how his 
seminary studies help him in 
his role, he responded, “I 
often find that what I am 
learning inspires the ministry 
I am a part of at Eastview.” 

As the MB Church of Canada’s National Seminary, our mission is to educate and equip men and women to lead the church and 
reach the world. Yet, leadership is not only for those in or aiming for professional ministry. Regardless of where you are in your 
journey as a disciple of Jesus, MB Seminary has something for everyone to help equip you along the way. From our biannual 
devotional series to events on relevant topics and courses in graduate theological education, MB Seminary aims to shape leaders 
and change lives wherever they may be. Join us. We can make a difference as we, together, navigate faith and life in the complex 
world in which we live.

BY THE NUMBERS 91 2019/20 Enrolled Students 157 NAVIGATE Participants 1090 Devotional Readers

Like any non-profit, managing 
finances amidst a pandemic is 
a huge challenge. Last spring, 
our Board of Directors 
initiated a 24-month  
Financial Restructuring Plan, 
requiring approximately 
$375,000 to be cut from the 
operating budget over two 
years. By aligning the 
Seminary’s income with its 
expenditures, we are 
confident that this plan will 
lead to a sustainable and 
stable financial future.

As we approach our fiscal year end on May 31, we are continuing to work toward sustainability. We’re grateful that, 
as of December 31, revenues of $800,000 have exceeded budget. Thank you for your generosity! However, we still 
require $140,000 to meet our 20-21 financial budget, and an additional $200,000 to meet our sustainability goals 
in the next two years. Your continued financial support is vital and necessary to help us carry out our mission of 
educating and equipping men and women to lead the church and share the good news of Jesus Christ.

We are grateful for the strong 
financial support received from 
across the country; thank you!

When we partner together, your support enables us to live out this mission and fulfill our vision of making 
the Seminary and its resources available to every interested pastor and individual in an MB church across 
Canada and around the world. That interest takes various forms—from studying for a graduate degree to 
engaging in continuing education or becoming equipped for serving as a volunteer. There is something 
for everyone at MB Seminary, and your support makes shaping leaders and changing lives possible. 

200k140k$800k 2020-2021

to budget

to sustainability

year to date revenue

FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT

and rebuilding homes for people impacted by natural 
disasters in the U.S. and Canada. Through the Fund we 
could support churches on the frontlines of responding to 
this huge pandemic disaster—supporting their efforts to 
be the hands and feet of Jesus in their communities.
     Although the pandemic curtailed our regular programs 
in Canada, and prevented Canadians from going to the 
U.S. to volunteer, we were able to help flood victims in 
Fort Vermillion, Alta. clean out their houses, and rebuild 
one house in 70 Mile House, B.C.—all done following 
strict health and safety protocols to keep volunteers 

and members of the 
community safe.
     The Apostle Paul writes 
in 1 Corinthians 13:13: 

“So now faith, hope, 
and love abide, 
these three, but the 
greatest of these is 
love.”

During this challenging 
year we experienced 
God’s faithfulness as we 
brought hope to people 
struggling because of 
disaster, showing them 
the love of Christ that is 
in our hearts.
 —Ross Penner, Director 

    of Canadian Operations

Mennonite Disaster Service Canada

REP   RT

That’s what Rob Patterson, pastor of the Scott St. 
Mennonite Brethren Church in St. Catharines, Ont. said 
about what a grant from the Mennonite Disaster Service 
(MDS) Canada Spirit of MDS Fund meant to his church 
during the pandemic.
     The church used the funds to provide about 500 meals 
for nearby families experiencing food insecurity because 
of COVID-19. “The grant allowed us to get the program 
up and running, helping with food purchasing and 
promotion,” says Patterson.
     He added it “made us feel 
that we are part of the larger 
Mennonite cause, both in 
St Catharines and around 
the world. This kind offer of 
support from MDS has been 
a real blessing, and in turn, 
allowed us to be a blessing to 
the larger community.”
     Scott St. was one of 80 
congregations or other 
ministries in Canada that 
received $1,000 grants or 
more from the Fund this year 
to respond to pandemic needs 
in their communities. 
     Due to the pandemic, 
MDS was unable to do its 
regular programs of repairing 

A great encouragement to our congregation 
and a catalyst for ministry...”
“

MDS Canada Office
200-600 Shaftesbury Blvd.
Winnipeg, MB Canada R3P 2J1
204-261-1274
toll-free 866-261-1274
mdscanada@mds.mennonite.netmds.mennonite.net

Bob Ratelle does cleanup in the kitchen at Scott Street Church in St. 
Catharines, Ont., after making meals made possible by support from 
the MDS Canada Spirit of MDS Fund. 

The MDS budget year runs from August 1 to July 31. In 2019-20. 6,048 volunteers from across 

Canada and the U.S. gave their time, skills and compassion to build 79 new homes, complete 280 

repairs, and finish 91 cleanups for households who experienced a disaster. That volunteer labour was 

valued at $13.6 million. In Canada, we finished up a project rebuilding or repairing 15 houses in 

Grand Forks, B.C.; built or repaired 5 houses in Renfrew, Ont.; and built two new homes following fires 

in Marquette, Man. and Newfoundland.
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Greetings from our Western Canada (BC) based global workers and Mobilization Team. While this past year was like no 
other, the Lord continues to have a mission. Here is a review of our region and a summary of our organization. Thank 
you, BCMB churches, for your prayers and generous partnership in the Gospel.  

Blessings,

Greg Laing
Multiply Mobilizer - Western Canada
gregl@multiply.net

Western Canada Team: 

Short-Term Mission: Sam Dick, Jessica Garcia-Driedger, Becky Spahr
Mobilization: Liz Nickel, John Johnstone, Sherry Heidebrecht, George Folz, Greg Laing

Mission is Alive in BCMB Churches

Multiply Western Canada, 300 - 32040 Downes Road Abbortsford BC V4X 1X5

604.859.6267      1.888.866.6267      multiply.net

This has been a year for flexibility and adaptation. We 
had many hopes and plans for the year that ended up 
being either adjusted or postponed. The mission to make, 
equip, and multiply healthy disciples has not changed. 
It took us a while to move from life-on-life discipleship 
and in-person training to online platforms. Despite these 
challenges, we were able to engage with churches and 
young adults. Here are some highlights:

Listening Tour: Special thanks to the 30 BCMB pastors 
who took our calls this past summer to talk about youth 
and young adult discipleship. We listened to stories of 
challenges and breakthroughs, and we prayed together. 
The main outcome was to serve BCMB in gathering 
consistent themes or resourcing topics.

STM Alumni: The outdoors became a place of gathering 
and discipleship for us. Not wanting to miss out on the 
great weather and the momentum that TREK 2019/2020 
had created, we sought out recent alumni and potential 
TREKers for times of social-distanced gatherings 
and book clubs at parks. We also created a two-part 
Zoom call with the goal of helping young disciples live 
purposefully in a challenging 2020.

M4M: A one-day Motivated for Mission conference was 
planned for November 14, 2020 but was canceled due 

to restrictions. However, from this, the idea was born 
to share resources from other regions to our registered 
attendants and alumni. Our Motivated for Mission e-mails 
were created and launched in January.

TREK BC moved to Kansas: Due to the many COVID-19 
restrictions in BC, we proposed that our Midwest US team 
host this year’s TREK training and debrief, in order to still 
give participants the very best of this program: community, 
life-on-life discipleship, mission experience and exposure, 
and meaningful partnerships with local churches and 
missionaries. We did manage to send one BC participant. 
We would like to express a huge thank you to our many 
partners and local churches for your support of TREK. 
Although we are not hosting TREK in BC this spring, this 
change is allowing us the space and time to evaluate and 
discern what is needed in our region in the fall.

Disciple Making International: While we postponed 
outreaches to the Philippines, Colombia and Mexico, we 
sent COVID relief funds to each of our national partners. 
Churches planted through DMI were fortified to extend 
the hope of Jesus with neighbours through sharing food 
and emergency supplies. 

SOAR, “GO Day” and AWAKE Weekends:  Postponed 
due to the pandemic.  

Short-Term Program Update

We would like to highlight three specific areas of 
engagement: sending workers, equipping at home, and 
fostering church partnerships.

First, we remain committed to the mandate to partner 
with churches to develop and send cross-cultural global 
workers. The Lord of the harvest continues to call 
people to go and to serve as his witnesses. At present, 
we have eleven BC-based households supported as 
long-term cross-cultural workers. We are also working 
with candidates who are preparing while waiting for 
pandemic restrictions to ease. By God’s grace, we 
managed to deploy one new worker during COVID 
and have seen the safe return to the field of some of 
those who had to delay their return because of border 
closures. We have requests from several regions for 
new workers, and we are eager to help if your church 
has a potential candidate or would like to meet a new 
worker who is developing their sending team. 

Second, while the mission door to the globe may not 
yet be fully open, the path to one’s neighbour is at hand. 

With the primary mission call in view to each believer 
to love the Lord and then one’s neighbour, our team 
is assisting churches to understand and engage their 
local mission calling with a special focus on cross-
cultural equipping. Two areas of emphasis are with 
First Nations (led by John Johnstone) and the Punjabi 
diaspora (led by Sherry Heidebrecht).  Several BCMB 
churches are involved with these ministry areas and we 
welcome others to share their interest.

Finally, we have found significant interest from 
churches to explore how to establish and then deepen 
their partnerships with the global church. Our North 
American Mobilization Team has developed and 
facilitated an introductory seminar for local churches 
to cultivate healthy and mutually beneficial long-term 
relationships with national leaders of the global church. 
Please let us know when your church team would 
benefit from our Kingdom Partnership workshop. We 
now have an online version available.  

TREK Burundi TeamTREK Niger Team

Church Mobilization Update

North American 
Churches

 > spiritual vitality
 > cultural perspective
 > discipleship resources
 > leadership training
 > mission strategies 
 > and much more...

Worldwide 
Partners

OFFER

OFFER

Churches worldwide have a lot to offer each other:
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You can find regional stories, ministry highlights and the 
full 2020 Impact Report at multiply.net/2020report

2
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15
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Let’s Celebrate our Shared Impact in 2020

Numbers of 
nations in each 
region with 
at least one 
ministry partner.

Facilitating mission engagement among U.S. and Canadian churches, we saw

463 people participate in mission and discipleship training

12 Global Partnership video calls, each with up to 74 participants

279 churches involved in global mission through Multiply

Working together to make Jesus known, we saw

377 churches planted and 5,560 people baptized in 68 nations

as reported by our

89 Global Workers* and 91 National Leaders

*Global Workers refers to Long-Term Missionaries sent from North America as well as International Partner Missionaries.

Ongoing Operations Discontinued Operations 

 27% | Church Mission Engagement
16% | Church Partnership Support

11% | Mission & Discipleship Training  
(includes Short-Term Mission programs)

5% | Missionary Care
Equipping & Team Health

9% | Administration 
Finance, IT, Legal & Governance 

Revenue:  $ 397,483
Expenses:    $ 800,9 1 7
Net:             ($ 403,434)

Cross-Cultural Mission Activities | 59%
Central & South America | 7%

East Asia | 6% 

Europe & Central Asia | 14% 

Middle East & North Africa | 3%

North America  | 3% 
(Indigenous & Immigrants)

South Asia | 2% 

Southeast Asia | 15%

Sub-Saharan Africa | 4%

Worldwide Initiatives | 5%

Revenue:   $  9,785,509
Expenses:  $  9,846,776
Net:                    ($        61,267)

Financial Overview
Fiscal Year in USD: June 2019 - May 2020

Our Generous Donors

 12%47%  35%  6%

Businesses

Individuals & Families Estates & Foundations

Churches

How Your Gifts Were Put to Work

Includes one-time internal restructuring expenses 
related to our ongoing Short-Term Mission Programs.

Refers to de-merger revenues and expenses. 
Not shown in pie chart below.
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one strategic focus. The priority areas of the CUSP are:

 ˚ Spiritual health and theology

 ˚ Leadership development

 ˚ Mission

 ˚ Organizational health
Aimed towards the following outcomes:

 ˚ Discipleship identity

 ˚ Churches that disciple

 ˚ Churches who lead

 ˚ Discipleship movements
The CUSP proposes an updated mission focus for 

the MB Church of Canada: Our mission is to collabo-
ratively develop a discipling identity that propels 
churches to a disciple-making attitude in order to pro-
duce new leaders who lead new disciple-making 
movements.

The National Faith and Life Team helped us iden-
tify the following seven family values:

We operate in dependence on God, who is revealed 
to us most clearly in Jesus.

 ˚ We live by the guidance of Scripture

 ˚ We expect transformational discipleship

 ˚ We participate in God’s mission

 ˚ We are church-centred

 ˚ We serve and lead together

 ˚ We steward resources on God’s behalf.
Both the bylaws and the CUSP were vetted multi-

ple times over 2020 with the National Council, focused 

National Director’s report

CCMBC began the year 2020 with the mandate to fully 
develop the Collaborative Model. 

Bylaws
The first thing we had to do was rewrite our bylaws. 
New bylaws introduced essential elements for the func-
tioning of the Collaborative Model. The bylaws also 
recognized an additional class of members, including 
our provincial conferences and national agencies such 
as Legacy, Multiply and MB Seminary. The board of 
these new “member organizations” form the National 
Council to advise and counsel towards fulfilling our 
collective mission. Senior leaders from the provinces, 
Multiply, MB Seminary and the National Faith and 
Life Team make up the strategic planning body we call 
the National Ministry Team.

For voting and approval purposes, the bylaws rec-
ognize the National Assembly, replacing what was 
previously known as our AGM. The National Assem-
bly includes delegates from churches and member 
organizations. Church delegates remain the primary 
decision-makers, just as they had in our previous 
bylaws. 

The CUSP
A second significant development in 2020 was the craft-
ing of the Collaborative Unified Strategic Plan. This 
document gathers all parts of the MB family under 

groups, and town hall meetings. Some provided addi-
tional feedback via email through our website. If you 
have comments or questions, please email us at FAQ@
mbchurches.ca.

The COVID-19 impact
The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on 
the ministry of our churches and agencies this past 
year. The MB family had to adapt to the reality that 
this health crisis would bring lower funding, the clo-
sure of programs and the inability to meet in person. 
Two things became evident through this: 1. We are a 
resilient and creative people, and 2. The mission of 
Jesus continued regardless of church building 
closures. 

The pandemic also had a significant impact on 
CCMBC’s financial picture. We began 2020 with an 
approved budget of $1.1 million. In response to COVID-
19 constraints, in the spring, we adjusted the budget 
to $991,000. CCMBC enacted salary reductions, tem-
porary and permanent layoffs, and reduced giving to 
partner organizations to make this adjustment. The 
combination of austerity management and federal 
wage subsidies allowed us to finish the year positively. 
Due to the pandemic’s continued effects, we propose 
a reduced 2021 budget, $236,000 less than the previ-
ous year. 

We invite you to the National Assembly as either 
a church delegate, member organization delegate or 
guest on June 11 and 12, 2021. Additional information, 
including registration, will be available on our web-
site soon. 

You are encouraged to stay connected with the MB 
Church in Canada by subscribing to our monthly dig-
ital magazine, the MB Herald Digest at 
mbherald.com/subscribe-via-email. Add your story to 
that of the Mennonite Brethren in Canada by contact-
ing us at mbherald@mbchurches.ca.

Respectfully yours,

Elton DaSilva 
National director 
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CCMBC Moderator’s Report
This past year has tested our adaptability and core val-
ues as few years have. Thanks to the resilience and 
adaptability of our churches, CCMBC team, and partner 
organizations we have weathered the challenges as well 
or better than expected. And, we all hope and pray for 
the restoration of normal options soon!

The CCMBC “Team” consists of the following:

 ˚ The Executive Board, which includes the mod-
erators or designates from each province, 
representatives from the Legacy and Seminary 
Boards, the NFLT, and members at large – about 
20 people.

 ˚ The committees and teams which work on spe-
cific projects: Finance and Audit Committee, 
Governance Committee, Personnel Committee, 
Nominations Committee, Executive Committee, 
National Ministry Team, and National Faith and 
Life Team.

 ˚ Our two directors: Elton DaSilva (National Dir.), 
and Ingrid Reichard (NFLT Dir.) along with their 
staff.
We thank them for their sacrificial work in diffi-

cult circumstances to help us through this year.
Your Board’s key goals are to execute the will and 

plans of the Conference, coordinate efforts toward our 
mission, and work to resolve issues and challenges to 
our relationships and projects. We have not been able 
to meet in person since last June, so have worked on 
monthly zoom calls to do our work.

Given the limitations of a brief report, we will use 
“headlines” to offer an overview of projects and accom-
plishments this year.

 ˚ Began living into the new Collaborative Model 
and working at the foundation pieces as 
described by Elton’s report (ie. Bylaws and Stra-
tegic Plan).

 ˚ Expanded the opportunities for participation 
and voice from churches, boards, and partners 
through our National Councils and Townhalls.

 ˚ Implemented the One-Stream Funding Model 
and thanks both to churches’ faithfulness and 
the good management of our staff, finished year 
2020 in the black.

 ˚ Welcomed a new Executive Director for Legacy, 
Jason Krueger, and moved beyond the mere 
recovery phase.

 ˚ Participated in the Multiply review and efforts to 

rebuild our binational mission.

 ˚ Supported MB Seminary in its financial resizing.

 ˚ Worked at observing the “Keeping our Promises” 
commitments made in June 2020.
This June, we expect our National Assembly (AGM) 

will be held via Zoom which actually makes it possible 
for more people to attend, and that we affirm. Our sched-
ule, agenda and related reports and recommendations 
will be published later this spring in good time for our 
June 11-12 meeting.

We continue to nurture our national partnership, 
not only because of historic and confessional bonds, but 
because we believe we can accomplish more by work-
ing in a complementary and collaborative way, than if 
we all attempted to “do it all ourselves.”

This June we will be given an opportunity to agree 
on the areas where we can operate collaboratively; the 
major goals are to:

 ˚ See our churches and members be Spiritually 
healthy and theologically committed to our joint 
understanding of God’s design for the church – 
expressed through our Confession of Faith.

 ˚ Operate from a plan that calls, equips, supports, 
and refreshes leaders for our future.

 ˚ Mobilize our churches to keep mission and disci-
ple-making a core in their efforts and finances.

 ˚ See Conference Board/Agencies and churches 
grow in their organizational health.
We want to operate with a “figurative open door” 

policy, so I invite you to address questions and sugges-
tions to our National Board through the following email: 
moderator@mbchurches.ca.

We trust your provincial meetings go well.

For the Executive Board,

Ron Penner
Moderator

BCMB
FINANCIALS
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by Ron Born, Chair

“Do not be deceived, God cannot be mocked. A 

man reaps what he sows. Whoever sows to please 

their flesh, from the flesh will reap destruction; 

whoever sows to please the Spirit, from the Spirit 

will reap eternal life. Let us not become weary in 

doing good, for at the proper time we will reap a 

harvest if we do not give up.” Galatians 6:7-9

     This verse is a vivid reminder that we need to 

consistently do good and make wise decisions 

to reap a harvest. It has also been said that 

“successful people do consistently what 

others do occasionally.” As the Stewardship 

Advisory Committee, we seek to continually 

assess financial matters on behalf of the BCMB 

Conference, churches, and camps so that we may 

advance God’s Kingdom.

     Our committee is blessed to have members 

who have specific understanding and sound 

business practices in various related fields: 

from construction to administration to wealth 

management. Our team reviews various loan 

requests and evaluates financial issues to make 

appropriate recommendations to the Executive 

Board (EB) for their review and final decision.

     Throughout the year, we also review and 

monitor the BCMB Conference financial budget 

to ensure that income and expenses are trending 

to a positive outcome at year-end. At the outset 

of 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic created 

operational and financial challenges for our 

churches and camps. The committee was asked 

to monitor income and expenses and present 

an adjusted working budget to reflect the new 

reality.

     Our team worked hard to lower expenses and 

wages, anticipating the possibility of a reduced 

income. To this end, together with the EB, we 

set up an ad-hoc committee to closely monitor 

the budget and Denis Federau provided the 

members with bi-weekly reports. Income trickled 

in slowly at first, but then there was a remarkable 

increase and a steady flow of income for the rest 

of the year. We praise God for His extraordinary 

provision during these challenging times.

     Another area where the pandemic affected 

our churches was in their day-to-day operations. 

To alleviate initial financial pressure, some 

churches and camps requested mortgage 

relief from Legacy to ensure their cash flow 

STEWARDSHIP
ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
remained positive. However, all churches are 

now back on track after cost cutting and revenue 

implementation.

     We are mindful that in addition to financial 

matters, our churches may need input from time-

to-time on HR and insurance issues. We continue 

to be proactive in having these resources 

available and are working to strengthen this area.

     In 2020, we also saw the implementation 

of the CCMBC Collaborative Model and One-

Stream Funding. All funds churches used to send 

to the Canadian Conference are now sent to 

BCMB, and together, we support our national 

ministries. The transition has gone relatively well, 

and we’ll continue to streamline the process in the 

coming year.

     Our vision for the new funding model is to 

provide resources for both the provincial and 

national conferences in order to rebuild our 

national vision, support church planting, equip 

the next generation of leaders through camping 

ministry and college and seminary education, and 

expand ministry among First Nation communities.

     As I step down from my role as chair of the 

Stewardship Advisory Committee, I want to thank 

Leonard Klassen, Linda Funk, and Wanda Froese 

for their wisdom and input. Leonard and Linda 

have now completed their six-year terms on the 

committee.

     I thank God for the leadership team that we 

have in our conference. They truly have a passion 

to see churches and camps flourish in the way of 

our Lord and Saviour.
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2021 Budget
Diff between 
2020 & 2021

2020 Actuals 2019 Actuals 2018 Actuals

INCOME

BCMB Church 

Contributions 
 $ 2,100,000.00  118%  $ 1,776,971.29 $ 1,469,419.23  $ 1,611,465.49

Honorariums $ 1,200.00  

Convention Registration 

Revenue
 $ 9,500.00

Convention Travel 

Registration
$ 0.00

P&S Retreat Registration 

Revenue
$ 36,000.00

Workshop & Conference 

Registration
$ 0.00

Rural Churches Retreat 

Registration
$ 0.00

Invoiced to BC Camp 

Society
$ 0.00

Transfer from Reserve 

Fund Surplus
$ 0.00

TOTAL INCOME  $ 2,146,700.00  121%  $ 1,777,121.29 $1,589,736.23  $ 1,901,916.00

BCMB BUDGET 
2021 

2021 Budget
% of 

Budget
Diff between 
2020 & 2021

2020 Actuals 2019 Actuals 2018 Actuals

EXPENSES

Subsidies & Transfers

Church Planting  (23% 
MC Contribution to 
BCMB)

$386,400.00

Camps Subsidy (16% 
MC Contribution to 
BCMB)

$268,800.00

CBC Subsidy (21% MC 
Contribution to BCMB)

$352,800.00

CCMBC Subsidy (20% 
of MC Contribution)

$420,000.00

Subtotal $1,428,000.00 68.00% 131% $ 1,094,121.99 $ 864,000.00 $ 810,000.00

Executive Board & Committees

Subtotal $ 12,600.00 0.59% 385% $ 3,269.10 $ 17,458.21 $ 10,722.17

Staff Compensation & Employment Expenses

Subtotal $ 333,696.48 15.54% 99% $ 338,078.96 $ 370,709.16 $ 422,480.17

Staff Ministry Expenses

Subtotal $ 19,680.00 0.92% 128% $ 15,360.70 $ 45,240.80 $ 56,695.70

Developing Leaders

Subtotal $38,050.00 1.77% 259% $ 14,668.19 $ 37,534.17 $ 77,496.88

Building Community

Subtotal $ 109,900.00 5.12% 1628% $ 6,750.46 $ 167,874.38 $ 147,883.60

Administration & Office Expenses

Subtotal $ 73,151.20 3.41% 89% $ 82,215.19 $ 97,183.35 $ 98,955.56

Licenses & Memberships

Subtotal $ 1,645.00 0.08% 4% $ 44,177.14 $ 40,203.29 $ 39,187.00

Professional Services

Subtotal $ 63,967.44 2.98% 117% $ 54,516.48 $ 48,077.48 $ 46,514.18

TOTAL EXPENSES $ 2,080,690.12 96.93% 126% $ 1,653,158.21 $ 1,688,280.84 $ 1,709,935.26

BALANCE $ 66,009.88 98.40%  $ 123,963.08 $ (98,544.61) $ 191,980.74
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches

Report on the Non-consolidated Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the non-consolidated financial statements of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren
Churches (the "Conference"), which comprise the non-consolidated statement of financial position as at December
31, 2020, and the non-consolidated statements of changes in fund balances, operations and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the non-consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the non-
consolidated financial position of the Conference as at December 31, 2020, and the non-consolidated results of
its operations and non-consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO).

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Under Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, church properties (Note 5) should be presented
at their carrying value. The effect of this departure from Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
on the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements is to either overstate or understate the church properties
on the non-consolidated statement of financial position. Due to the lack of information available to The B.C.
Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches, the amount of the misstatement for church properties is not
determinable on the non-consolidated statements of financial position and changes in fund balances. Our audit
opinion on the non-consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 was modified because of
the effects of this departure from Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-profit Organizations. Our audit opinion
for the year ended December 31, 2019 was modified accordingly.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Non-consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Conference in accordance with ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the non-consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Non-consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the non-consolidated financial statements in
accordance with ASNPO, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of non-consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the non-consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Conference's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Conference or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Conference's financial reporting process.

(continues)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches

Report on the Non-consolidated Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the non-consolidated financial statements of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren
Churches (the "Conference"), which comprise the non-consolidated statement of financial position as at December
31, 2020, and the non-consolidated statements of changes in fund balances, operations and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the non-consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our
report, the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the non-
consolidated financial position of the Conference as at December 31, 2020, and the non-consolidated results of
its operations and non-consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO).

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Under Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, church properties (Note 5) should be presented
at their carrying value. The effect of this departure from Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
on the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements is to either overstate or understate the church properties
on the non-consolidated statement of financial position. Due to the lack of information available to The B.C.
Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches, the amount of the misstatement for church properties is not
determinable on the non-consolidated statements of financial position and changes in fund balances. Our audit
opinion on the non-consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 was modified because of
the effects of this departure from Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-profit Organizations. Our audit opinion
for the year ended December 31, 2019 was modified accordingly.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Non-consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Conference in accordance with ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the non-consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Non-consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the non-consolidated financial statements in
accordance with ASNPO, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of non-consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the non-consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Conference's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Conference or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Conference's financial reporting process.

(continues)
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren
Churches  (continued)

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Non-consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these non-consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the non-consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Conference’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Conference’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the non-
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Conference to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the non-consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the non-consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Societies Act of British Columbia, we report that, in our opinion, the accounting policies applied in
preparing and presenting the non-consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian Accounting
Standards for Not-for-profit Organizations have been applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

Burnaby, British Columbia
February 22, 2021  Chartered Professional Accountants

2

ith that of the preceding year.

artered Professional Accountants
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Changes in Fund Balances
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Operating
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2020 2019

FUND BALANCES -
BEGINNING OF YEAR $ 601,353 $ 191,156 $ 792,509 $ 875,685

 
Excess (deficiency) of revenue

over expenses 382,674 (25,699) 356,975 (83,176)
 

Interfund transfers (Note 8) (488,725) 488,725 - -   

FUND BALANCES - END OF
YEAR $ 495,302 $ 654,182

   
$ 1,149,484

  
$ 792,509

 

 
See notes to financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2020

Operating
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2020 2019

REVENUE
Ministry commitment from

churches $ 1,741,828 $ - $ 1,741,828 $ 1,469,419
Donations 235,400 6,760 242,160 45,072
Recoveries 63,929 - 63,929 65,153
MBCC Association donations - 5,000 5,000 51,271
Interest income 269 2,131 2,400 2,120
Miscellaneous income 1,381 - 1,381 18,843
Event income 150 - 150 62,592
Fundraising - - - 6,500

2,042,957 13,891 2,056,848 1,720,970

EXPENSES
Ministry partnerships 1,019,703 - 1,019,703 825,231
Wages and benefits -

Conference 338,079 - 338,079 345,443
Administration -

Conference (Note 9) 130,451 - 130,451 165,221
Donations 54,694 - 54,694 -
Ministry expenses 15,010 35,040 50,050 48,334
Church media licenses 42,502 - 42,502 45,216
Training and development 21,810 - 21,810 46,104
Other facilities administration 13,880 - 13,880 16,076
Event expenses 6,750 - 6,750 156,764
MBCC Association - 4,550 4,550 19,504
Board and committee

expenses 2,395 - 2,395 8,361
Memberships and licenses 1,675 - 1,675 1,631

1,646,949 39,590 1,686,539 1,677,885

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSES
FROM OPERATIONS 396,008 (25,699) 370,309 43,085

OTHER EXPENSES  
Write-down for uncollectible

loan 13,334 - 13,334 126,261

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSES $ 382,674 $ (25,699) $ 356,975 $ (83,176)

 

 
See notes to financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2020

2020 2019

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $ 356,975 $ (83,176)
 Items not affecting cash:

 Amortization 10,552 11,283
 Loss on disposal of capital assets - 1,942
 Write-down for uncollectible loan 13,334 126,261

 380,861 56,310

 Changes in non-cash working capital: 
 Accounts receivable 3,797 (5,063)
 Prepaid expenses 2,953 (13,911)
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (21,010) (11,833)
 Deferred revenue 2,933 2,118
 Deferred contributions (100,000) 100,000

(111,327) 71,311
  

 Cash flow from operating activities 269,534 127,621
  

INVESTING ACTIVITY
 Purchase of capital assets (375) (4,558)

  
FINANCING ACTIVITY

 Advances from related parties (61,351) (34,299)
  

INCREASE IN CASH FLOW 207,808 88,764

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 504,637 415,873
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 712,445 $ 504,637
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF:
 Unrestricted cash $ 56,422 $ 211,640
 Internally restricted cash 534,956 52,279
 Externally restricted cash 7,628 129,679
 Externally restricted cash deposits with another organization 113,439 111,039

  
$ 712,445 $ 504,637
  

 
See notes to financial statements
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

1. PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION    

The B.C. Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Churches (the "Conference") exists to join God in
building healthy churches that transform communities with His love and truth. The Conference
operates programs and ministries to assist its local member churches.

The Conference is incorporated under the Societies Act of British Columbia and is a registered
charity under the Income Tax Act and as such is exempt from income taxes.

During the year, the Conference's operations were significantly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Specifically, in late March 2020 the facilities of the member churches were closed for use by the
congregations, with worship services and ministry activities either discontinued or moved online. As
a result, some revenue sources were disrupted and reductions to many ministry expenses occurred.
Although to date the impact of COVID-19 on the Conference has been minimal, there are still
continued pressures on member churches related to the re-opening of the facilities and resumption
of in-person worship services and other ministry activities, and therefore conference operating
support and loan repayments. Potential revenue loss reductions and decreases in cash flow could
require the Conference, as guarantor, to make mortgage and loan payments on behalf of the
member churches. Returning to pre-pandemic levels of operations will depend on the effectiveness
of vaccines currently being deployed by the federal and provincial levels of government, as well as
achieving certain thresholds of vaccination for the region's population.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES         

Basis of Presentation 

The non-consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

The Conference does not prepare consolidated financial statements for its controlled entity,
Columbia Bible College (Note 4).

These non-consolidated financial statements present only the financial position, changes in fund
balances, results of operations and changes in cash flows for the Conference. Individual member
churches and camps within the Conference account for their own financial position, changes in fund
balances, results of operations and change in cash flows, as well as any assets that may be on title
with the Conference, but for which the churches and camps have beneficial ownership.

Fund Accounting

The Conference follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.

The Operating Fund accounts for the operations, administration and capital assets of the
Conference and reports its unrestricted resources. 

The Restricted Funds account for funds externally restricted by contributors to be used for specific
ministries and funds internally restricted by the board of directors for designated purposes.

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue Recognition

Externally restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue of the
Operating Fund in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Externally restricted amounts
can only be used for purposes designated by the contributor. All other externally restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate restricted fund in the year received or
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably
assured.

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the Operating Fund when received or
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably
assured.

Recoveries are recognized as revenue when invoiced which typically coincides with payment by the
Conference of the related expense to be recovered. Recoveries pertaining to annual group licenses
are recognized over the term of the license. Any amounts received in advance are reflected in
deferred revenue on the Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Event income is recognized as revenue when the events are held.

Financial Instruments

All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair market value. Publicly traded equity
instruments quoted in an active market are subsequently measured at fair value with any unrealized
gains or losses and transaction costs recognized in net excess of revenue over expenses.  All other
financial instruments are adjusted for any transaction costs incurred on acquisition and are
subsequently measured at their amortized cost. Financial instrument impairments and impairment
reversals are recognized when incurred in net excess of revenue over expenses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash balances with banks, and cash deposits
with another organization. Any term deposits or similar contractual instruments that are cashable
and and a maturity term of three months or less are classified as cash equivalents.

Capital Assets and Amortization  

Capital assets purchased are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Capital assets
contributed are recorded at the fair value as of the date of receipt. Amortization is provided at
various rates on a straight-line basis designed to amortize the assets over the estimated useful lives.
The amortization rates are as follows:

 
Computer equipment 4 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements 6 years

The Conference regularly reviews its capital assets to remove those no longer in use.

Capital assets acquired during the year but not placed into use are not amortized until they are used
in operations.

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contributed Services and Materials

Volunteers assist the Conference in carrying out its ministry, programs and operations. Due to the
difficulty in determining their fair value, contributed services are not recognized in the financial
statements.

Contributed materials or gifts-in-kind are only recognized when their fair value is reasonably
determinable, with such items recorded at fair value on the date of the contribution. During the year
the Conference received non-cash gifts-in-kind of $50,000 (private company preferred shares) (2019
- $NIL). 

Defined Contributions Plan

The Conference participates in the Canadian Mennonite Brethren Pension Plan administered by the
Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Church of North America, which is a defined
contribution plan related to future employee benefits. The Society is only responsible for payments
as specified under the plan agreement. The contribution amounts are determined based upon
employee services rendered during the year. Contributions made by the Conference for the year
amounted to $29,558 (2019 - $30,745). 

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. Material uncertainties involving management
estimates include the determination of the historical costs of land and building transferred to the
Conference's books after a member church closes down (Note 5). 

3. CAPITAL ASSETS           
2020 2019

Accumulated Net book Net book
Cost amortization value value

Computer equipment $ 25,771 $ 20,735 $ 5,036 $ 10,019
Furniture and fixtures 30,122 26,684 3,438 7,215
Leasehold improvements 8,858 6,584 2,274 3,691

$ 64,751 $ 54,003 $ 10,748 $ 20,925
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

4. RELATED PARTIES        

The following is a summary of amounts due from related parties:

2020 2019

BCMB Bible Camp Society (related by significant
influence) $ 8,433   $ -

         
Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Church

of North America (related by common membership) 7,122   -
         

The Pines Bible Camp Association (related by significant
influence) 162,645   162,645
Allowance for uncollectible loan (162,645)  (162,645)

$ 15,555 $ -

 
The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and without any specific
repayment terms.

During the year, $13,334 of an amount due from BCMB Bible Camp Society was written off due to
uncollectibility. During a previous year, an allowance was established for the $162,645 balance due
from The Pines Bible Camp Association due to uncertainty regarding the collectability of the balance.
The amount has not been fully written off as collection may occur at a later date once the camp
becomes financially stable.

 

The following is a summary of amounts due to related parties:

2020 2019

Columbia Bible College (controlled organization) $ -   $ 32,139
         

Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Church
of North America (related by common membership) -   323

$ - $ 32,462

The Conference has significant influence over the following not-for-profit organizations: Campfire
Ministries; Gardom Lake Bible Camp; BCMB Bible Camp Society; Stillwood Camp and Conference
Centre; and The Pines Bible Camp Association. All these camps are registered charities under the
Income Tax Act and as such exempt from income taxes.

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

4. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Columbia Bible College (the “College”) is a controlled organization that is a registered charity under
the Income Tax Act and as such is exempt from income taxes. The College is incorporated under
the Columbia Bible College Act, S.B.C. 1987.

The purpose of the College is to provide post-secondary education to students from Canada and
other parts of the world. The Conference has the authority to elect a majority of the directors of the
College.

The relevant financial information provided by the College is audited by another firm of Chartered
Professional Accountants and reported separately up to and including April 30, 2020. The College
utilized the deferral method of accounting for contributions, rather than the restricted fund method
used by the Conference. The College reported $2,656,220 of restricted assets at April 30, 2020
(2019 - $2,733,627).

2020 2019

Total Assets $ 13,383,115   $ 14,084,327
Total Liabilities 10,064,947   10,940,934
Net Assets 3,318,168   3,143,393
Revenue 7,491,486   7,457,510
Expenses 7,413,734   7,394,610

         
         Cash flow from (used by)

Operating Activities (341,193)  108,047
Financing Activities 147,023   128,001
Investing Activities (93,138)  (47,847)

         
         The restricted assets of the College are as follows:

Deferred operating contributions 330,295   495,443
Scholarship endowment principal 1,246,013   1,148,990
Deferred revenue 403,674   412,956
Internally restricted - capital reserve 676,238   676,238

(continues)
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

4. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

The following is a summary of the Conference’s related party revenue (expense) transactions:

2020 2019

         BCMB Bible Camp Society
 (significantly influenced organization)

Write-down for uncollectible loan $ (13,334)  $ (126,261)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (128,187)  (160,000)
Ministry partnership - designated donations (100,000)  -

         
         Campfire Ministries
         (significantly influenced organization)

Recoveries 1,015   -
         
         Columbia Bible College

 (controlled organization)
Recoveries 353   264
Ministry partnerships - bursaries (2,070)  (2,510)
Administration (21,709)  (31,427)
Ministry partnerships - subsidies (290,000)  (336,000)

         
         Gardom Lake Bible Camp

 (significantly influenced organization)
Recoveries 158   260

         
         Stillwood Camp and Conference Centre

 (significantly influenced organization)
Recoveries 2,318   178

         
Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Church of
North America
 (related by common membership)

Donations -   36,000
Ministry partnerships - church planting subsidies (189,075)  -
Ministry partnerships - national ministry subsidies (310,371)  -

 
These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

5. CHURCH PROPERTIES    

When a member church ceases activity, the beneficial ownership of the related property returns to
the Conference. During the year, no churches ceased activity. The Conference now holds title to four
churches for which no member congregation maintains beneficial ownership. The properties are
held by the Conference for future congregations and were recorded as a direct increase to the
Operating Fund balance.

Although Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations require such assets to be
recorded at carrying value, the Conference has been unable to determine the carrying value of the
churches at the time the member churches ceased activity. The assets have been included based
on available historical cost information totaling $394,980 (2019 - $394,980). The difference between
the historical cost and the current carrying value of the four church properties is not determinable as
of the report date.

6. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS           

Certain funds have been received that were designated, but not yet disbursed for the following
projects, missions, and ministries:

2020 2019

Indigenous relations $ 1,000   $ 1,000
Scholarships 841   841
BC camp ministry -   100,000

$ 1,841 $ 101,841
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

7. RESTRICTED FUNDS          

Opening
Balance Revenue Expenses

Interfund
Transfers
(Note 8)

Closing
Balance

Internally restricted funds consist of:

Contingency
reserve $ - $ - $ - $ 400,000 $ 400,000

BCMB church
planting 41,279 - 6,048 88,725 123,956

Camp leadership
bursary 10,000 - - - 10,000

BCMB ministry
growth 1,000 - - - 1,000

$ 52,279 $ - $ 6,048 $ 488,725 $ 534,956

Externally restricted funds consist of:

MBCCA
Association $ 91,913 $ 6,598 $ 4,550 $ - $ 93,961

Camps bursary
fund 12,068 258 - - 12,326

Esperenza
Multicultural
Church 9,827 215 - - 10,042

Church planting
fund 22,232 6,760 28,992 - -

Chaplaincy trust
fund 2,837 60 - - 2,897

$ 138,877 $ 13,891 $ 33,542 $ - $ 119,226

8. INTERFUND TRANSFERS    

During the year, $400,000 was transferred from the Operating Fund to the Internally Restricted
Contingency Reserve Fund Fund to set up a contingency reserve.

During the year, $88,725 was transferred from the Operating Fund to the Internally Restricted BCMB
Church Planting Fund to fund church planting efforts across British Columbia. 
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

9. ADMINISTRATION - CONFERENCE          

The following is a breakdown of the administrative expenses of the Conference:

2020 2019

Accounting $ 22,207   $ 20,082
Legal 20,694   26,887
Rent 18,942   28,660
Computer and software 18,057   14,858
Invoiced payments 11,155   18,743
Amortization 10,552   11,283
Insurance 8,118   11,322
Telephone 4,874   7,569
Printing and postage 4,845   8,083
Website 4,167   4,545
Office 2,146   4,276
Advertising and promotion 1,947   2,764
Bank charges and interest 1,520   2,127
Maintenance 1,227   2,080
Loss on disposal of capital assets -   1,942

$ 130,451 $ 165,221

10. CONTINGENT LIABILITY   

The Conference is liable with respect to mortgages for member churches and camps operating
under its Society, loaned from the Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Church of North
America in the amount of $22,036,599 (2019 - $21,775,925). The purpose of the loans are to allow
the member churches and camps to acquire land and buildings and for church and camp building
construction. The mortgages are secured by properties in which the Conference has title, but for
which beneficial ownership of the properties resides with the member churches and camps and
therefore the related mortgages are considered to be liabilities of the respective member churches
and camps.

Except as explained below, none of the loans are in default and management of the Conference is of
the opinion that the risk to the Conference that it would be required to pay these mortgages should
churches default on their payments is mitigated by the fair value of the collateral being in excess of
the outstanding mortgages.

The property held for the Pines Bible Camp (the “Camp”) has a market value that exceeds the
mortgage amount. Specifically, as at the most recent appraisal date of December 31, 2014 the
property had an appraised value of $1,735,000 whereas the mortgage on the property was
$1,003,113 as at December 31, 2020. The Camp is in arrears in its payments to the mortgagee, the
Canadian Conference of the Mennonite Brethren Church of North America.

The Conference is currently involved in two legal cases; one relating to an uninsured motor vehicle
accident and the other relating to a dispute a member church is involved in regarding a photocopier
lease. The outcomes and contingent loss on both matters is not determinable at this time.
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

11. LEASE COMMITMENT      

Subsequent to the year-end, the Conference signed an an operating lease with respect to its
premises with Columbia Bible College, a related party, which expires on December 31, 2023. The
Conference also holds an option to renew this lease for an additional three years at a renegotiated
rate.

Future minimum lease payments over the term of the lease are as follows:

2021 $ 29,911
2022 30,957
2023 31,944

$ 92,812

12. FUNDS HELD IN TRUST    

The Conference holds funds in trust for several member churches. They are solely the property of
the churches and do not accrue in whole or part to the Conference. As at December 31, 2020, the
Conference held $6,246,203 of cash deposits in trust from member churches (2019 - $6,183,295
cash deposits).

13. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE    

The Conference is dependent on contributions from its member churches to fund a significant
portion of its operations. During the year the Conference received contributions equal to 18% (2019
– 21%) of its Operating Fund revenue from two member churches (2019 - two member churches),
and as such is economically dependent on these organizations for its ongoing operations.

14. REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE    

In accordance with the Societies Act of British Columbia, the Society discloses that the two highest
paid individuals and persons under a contract for services that each exceeded $75,000 of annual
remuneration were paid a total sum of $177,555.

Of the above amount, $10,733 was reimbursed by the BCMB Bible Camp Society for the work that
was done by a Society employee on their behalf.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS   

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The
Conference is exposed to credit risk for its cash equivalents. Exposures to credit risk are as follows:

The cash equivalents are cash deposits held with CCMBC Legacy Fund, which is not a
financial institution. The deposits are not government guaranteed or insured by the Canada
Deposit Insurance Corporation, therefore any financial difficulties encountered by the
CCMBC Legacy Fund could adversely affect the collectability and valuation of the deposits.
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THE B.C. CONFERENCE OF THE MENNONITE BRETHREN CHURCHES
Notes to Non-Consolidated Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2020

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS   

Subsequent to the year end, the Conference signed lease agreements with BCMB Bible Camp
Society ("the Tenant") to lease five properties to the Tenant. The term of the agreement is for two
years ending on December 31, 2022 and includes annual basic rent at $1 with the operational costs
of the properties to be borne by the Tenant. The properties are owned by the Conference, however,
were previously not recorded in these financial statements as the camps that operated on the
properties retained the beneficial ownership. The Conference will begin reporting the cost of these
properties in its financial statements at the commencement of the lease. 
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BCMB Convention Minutes 2020 

Via Zoom Saturday, May 2, 2020 8:30am 

1. Prayer - Rob Thiessen, BCMB Conference Minister: read and reflected 
from Isaiah 40:25-31. We were invited to pray along and also type 
prayers into the chat. Prayers of adoration and acknowledgment, then 
prayers for grace, renewal, awakening, clarity, unity as we brought 
our MB churches before the Lord.  We prayed boldly in asking the Lord 
to extend His Kingdom for His glory and then listed geographic 
locations of all the areas we are representing. Prayers in the chat are 
now are a precious record of our meeting.

2. Technicalities of Zoom - Tamara Okoti & Connie Dyck, BCMB staff: 
went through the logistics of how to run the zoom meeting with chat 
function for questions, Q&A and raise hand function, chatting, time 
limits on open mic, polling for votes etc. 

3. Welcome - Sharon Simpson, Moderator:

3.1 Welcome of guests:  Elton DaSilva, National Director CCMBC; 
Wayne Bremnner, MCCBC; Mark Wessner, MB Seminary; Randy Friesen, 
Multiply and welcome to all 169 participants and 53 churches represented. 

3.2 Appointments: M/S/C to appoint 
➢ Brad Sumner as Parliamentarian
➢ Lorraine Dick, Barry McMaster as Minute Review Committee
3.3 Minutes of 2019 AGM Approval: M/S/C with the amendment

that it is Eagle Ridge ‘Bible’ Fellowship not Eagle Ridge ‘Gospel’ 
Fellowship (pg 95) 

4. Moderator Report/Strategic Plan - Sharon Simpson, Moderator:

4.1 Report: (ref. pg 10-15 of Convention Booklet) SS reiterated 
the meaningful privilege to serve as moderator and the many prayers 
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offered for you as leaders, your spouses and your churches.  This last 
year we have worked together in significant ways through some complex, 
difficult times, hurts and now COVID-19.  Matthew 7:24-29, with Christ 
as our foundation, we want it to be apparent we are living out everything 
that we are saying and we realize the need to choose forgiveness.  As 
Sharon represents us at the CCMBC Board level, it is compelling to serve 
with a group of people so wholly and completely sold out for the Lord, 
wanting to be transparent, build trust and integrity and grow the MB 
family. 

4.2 Covenant of Collaboration: (ref. pg 14-15 of Convention 
Booklet) Gratitude expressed that we want to be together. It’s a sign we 
want to restore and strengthen our family, be instruments of 
reconciliation and transformation, growing in unity and impact. The 
Covenant of Collaboration is a tool for this.  Originated with CCMBC 
Board and has been adapted to add scriptures.  It is a meaningful tool 
you are welcome to use within your own churches.  

4.3 Strategic Plan: (ref. pg 20-21 of Convention Booklet)  
This plan was developed along with our 3 partners: camps, CBC and 
church planting as an attempt to frame our direction moving forward 
together, which only comes from the engagement, participation, 
enthusiasm and desire to do so.  
The 3 year Strategic Plan is a draft, not for voting on but to encourage 
your comments and input as to the directions we should be taking 
moving forward with a holistic focus. Plan will be looked at yearly to 
assess.  It’s not a job description but a focus to work towards in 
collaboration with others.  
Sharon shared some of the objectives that have been accomplished over 
this last year. It is the engagement, collaboration and alignment 
financially and theologically of the local churches that will make the 
strategic plan successful.  

• Several questions were asked re clarification on different words or
areas of the strategic plan elements and/or how they would be
addressed.  Comments of appreciation were made for the hard work
going into this plan.
• Questions re Common Understanding Document related to the intention
of the document and it was made clear that this doesn’t replace our
Confession of Faith but is reaffirmation of what our identity as an MB
family looks like and in the bylaws as an inspirational encouragement.

Poll: 

 

 

If you think this is a positive way forward, heading in the right direction 
and beneficial to BCMB raise your hand. 
Results: over 100 hands raised out of 169 participants (not all are 
delegates) 
Sharon Simpson: Good affirmation and we are eager for your feedback. 
 
It will take resolve and sacrifice as a family for our churches to operate in 
these different, difficult times of pandemic.  The generosity of our homes 
and hearts along with the spiritual support for those who don’t know the 
peace that passes all understanding will require a faithful witness.  
On behalf of the board, very pleased with the staff we have and the work 
they are doing. Rob, Denis, Connie, Tamara, Sandra and Irina. We are 
grateful God has given them the skills and abilities to work on our behalf 
through so many things.  We are thankful for Denis with financials, Rob 
and his pastoral view and the way they are both able to engage with you 
as churches.  
 
5. Reports 
 5.1 Church Planting Taskforce - Phil Collins: Taskforce is in the 
last 8 months of an 18 month period to move forward and gain a sense 
of God’s vision and leading. Thanks to Rob and Denis for their guidance 
this last year.  The leaders on the task force have a real passion, a 
proven track record and wisdom.   
Three key areas of focus: 1. strategizing to confirm the nature and 
existence of church planting and terms of reference for moving forward. 
Key areas: church renewal, spiritual formation, health, discipleship, 
prayer culture.  
2. pastoral care for planters, engagement and connection with the BCMB 
family alignment  
3. relationships with the decoupling of Multiply and C2C Collective.  
Churches with multisite strategies and their plants are deeply inspiring.  
We all need to engage, it’s a family endeavour. Although our churches 
are diverse, we love Jesus and the Gospel and we need to ask how and 
where we can be engaging and in what neighbourhoods.  
 
Sharon Simpson: thanked the participants of the Taskforce.  The CPT was 
the response to churches needing support and leadership after the 
emergency with the demerger. We are looking at what happens after the 
18 months, re-envisioning what BCMB needs moving forward and we 
welcome participation in that conversation. We don’t want to minimize 
our financial commitments. We will come to convention 2021 with a new 
proposal and mandate for discernment and vote.  
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5.2 Multiply - Randy Friesen: addressed the challenge of the large 
deficit last year and revisioning after demerger with C2C.  Church 
planting financial requirements here were greater than donations and 
Multiply was unable to fill the gap. This year the focus has been on 3 
things: to stop, wait and listen and the review process was engaged with 
a positive attitude. They are still working with our many global 
missionaries. Hosting twice weekly global calls, learning much and the 
reminder that mission doesn’t stop in the midst of high cost and suffering 
but rather can be advanced. 
Recently we are focused on being willing to abide with unprecedented 
times of prayer and listening, to be equipped and prepared for every 
opportunity, be clear and bold in our witness and have discipleship as the 
foundation. Also, to work together with our churches here and globally. 

5.3 CBC - Bryan Born: Expressed gratitude for prayers and the 
support of churches and individuals, particularly in the past 6 weeks with 
COVID challenges, alternate teaching delivery and staff layoffs. Had to 
cancel the annual golf tournament which usually raises about $60,000 
per year; however, most sponsors agreed to continue sponsoring so the 
finances will still come in. In the midst of the challenges God has been at 
work and it is gratifying to see the staff rise to the challenge and care for 
students. There has been a great deal of growth and learning.  

CBC is preparing for an uncertain fall but hopes to have in-person classes 
with modifications and COVID procedures. Current enrolment same as 
last year with new student numbers being higher than this time last year.  
The budget forecast working to a status quo budget with other scenarios 
developed to manage drops in enrolment and funds. 

Bryan ended with an encouraging testimony from a Syrian refugee 
student and the positive word to live with hope and courage and press 
into God’s calling. 

5.4 MB Seminary - Mark Wessner:  There were 13 graduates who 
are good leaders.  Although the seminary has seen growth in financial 
support from individuals, the board declared a financial emergency. The 
systemic problem (pre COVID) means the seminary is not financially 
sustainable so there needs to be a significant reduction in expenses of 
about $4-500,000 over the next 2 years.  They are developing a business 
plan to make financial reductions in a sustainable way while still pursuing 
the vision and mission.  No personnel decisions made yet.   

Mark talked about the need to become sustainable so that they can begin 
to rebuild and there are positive projections for the future. He expressed 
thanks for the support and how they covet all prayers.  

Bylaws:  SS: The board had a 3 phase plan for the bylaws: get inline 
with the Society’s Act, with our practices and next year to get best 
practices into our bylaws.   

Lorne Welwood:  Lorne and Denis and a former staff member were 
tasked with reviewing the bylaws as they were ambiguous so this is the 
attempt to get them to look like what we are actually doing.  Full text of 
bylaws changes should have been presented to you 45 days prior for a 
special resolution therefore legally we can’t vote on the bylaw changes.   
We will not be voting on the recommendation today.   

Since we are now receiving more feedback and questions, this delay until 
perhaps November seems providential.  Your input is valued.  

Q/A/Comments: tabled for information as we move forward. 

5.5 Camps - Jonathan Kornelsen: Summer Camp is a strategic tool 
God uses to proclaim the gospel, grow believers and train generations of 
leaders.  Last year: 4000 campers, 601 first time commitments, 1300 
spiritual decisions, 519 serving.  Due to COVID, camps are waiting to see 
how the summer and fall will look.  We are believing that camp can 
happen in some way/form. Continue to pray for the directors and 
workers, kids and their families. 

We’ve been blessed to have Denis over the past few years and it’s been a 
long process to rework the job description and vision for the future 
Executive Director. Pleased to announce Bob Kroeker as Executive 
Director. Bob believes in camps as a tool for evangelism and in 
developing camps as a tool to be used by the church.   

Sharon Simpson: Thanked Jonathan for his role and welcomed Bob as 
the new director. She acknowledged the struggle camps have to retain 
mature staff. BCMB is asking in the strategic plan if we can increase the 
amount of giving to help with sustainability.  

5.6 CCMBC - Elton DaSilva: Canadian Conference is addressing the many 
questions about what CCMBC is doing in response to COVID.  CCMBC 
acknowledges the financial realities of church giving. Making financial 
adjusts by: cuts to programming costs, application for government 
money so the budget is being reduced/offset by 
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approximately 51%. The budget will be reviewed in 90 day increments. 
At the end of March CCMBC only received 60% of expected income so 
more adjustments will be made going forward.  AGM was changed to 
virtual with bylaws and policies amended to enable that.  

In the fall CCMBC will hold several town hall meetings to discuss new 
bylaws and to have one unified, collaborative mission and strategic plan 
that all the provinces are working together towards. The bylaws and the 
strategic plan would then be voted on by the provinces in 2021.  
Appreciation noted for the commitment, contribution and relationship 
between BCMB and CCMBC. 

6.0 Budget - Michael Loewen, Loewen Kruse CPAs 
Denis expressed appreciation for Michael Loewen and his team 
helping with the COVID crisis. With C2C and CCMBC issues we felt it 
was important to have the best level of transparency despite a 
higher cost of an audit.  

Michael Loewen:  In past years BCMB has had engagement review but an 
audit gives a higher level of assurance and investigates balance sheet 
items. This first year of the audit went well with no major risk areas 
found, no mismanagement, misappropriation or areas of suspicion. On 
Feb 24, 2020 the directors approved financial statements. Post COVID we 
realize the future will look different. 

There were no questions regarding the audit process. 

The audit reviewed balance sheet and operating fund columns, compared 
assets to current liabilities and it’s a positive ‘working capital ratio’. 
Income statement is break even amount based on operations.  There was 
a one time loan payout.  
Notes on the financial statement are there for information and policies 
used on pg. 8-9.  
Church properties listed of churches that have ceased operations are 
listed as an asset, those not listed are on the books of their respective 
churches.  

7. Recommendations by the Board pg 69

1. That all ministry reports be approved. M/S/Carried

2. That the 2020 BCMB budget be amended from $1,600,000
(Provincially) to $1,850,000 ($1,450,000 Provincial + $400,000

National) to include the Single-Stream funding, reflecting a 3.2% 
contribution from churches’ receipted donations. M/S 
Discussion:  
Jonathan Jansen: An amendment to the proposed budget showing BCMB 
commits to live within its means and only spend 3.2% of total 2020 
church revenues and report any changes at a special general meeting.  

Lorne Welwood: The above becomes a new motion and bylaw 14.4 
states members of churches can’t bring motions less than 3 months prior 
to the meeting and the board needs to look at motions before bringing 
them to the AGM.  
Putting duties or parameters on this budget as suggested doesn’t work 
as the conference doesn’t know what will come in from the churches so 
therefore can’t keep ourselves within 3.2%  

Parliamentarian Brad Sumner: legal counsel was sought and it is 
appropriate to vote to table or postpone items  2, 3 and 6 to the next 
Convention assuming that the motions are made, seconded and after 
discussion, tabled to a specific time, since the motions are subsidiary and 
not new.  

Lorne Welwood:  moved to table/postpone recommendations 2,3 
and 6.  Seconded.  Carried. 

Jonathan Janzen is asking us to record that BCMB Executive Board is 
making a commitment to spend within revenues received and the 3.2% 
meaning be clear.   

3. That the 2021 BCMB budget be set at $2,050,000 ($1,550,000 
Provincial + $500,000 National) to include the Single-Stream 
funding, reflecting a 3.5% contribution from churches’ receipted 
donations. Tabled for later.

4. That the Audited Financial Statements, prepared by Loewen Kruse 
Chartered Accountants for the fiscal year 2019, be approved as 
presented. M/S/C

5. That we appoint Loewen Kruse Chartered Accountants as the 
accounting firm to perform an audit of the financial records and 
prepare the financial statements for the year 2020. M/S/C
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6. That the revisions to the BCMB Bylaws be approved as presented. 
Tabled for later.

7. That the British Columbia Conference of Mennonite Brethren 
Churches release Grace Ethiopian Evangelical Church from 
membership as they have requested in order to join the Evangelical 
Free Church where they are meeting.  M/S/C

8. To accept Northview-East Campus, Christ City-East Vancouver, and 
Central Community Church-Lake Errock into our BCMB family of 
churches doesn’t actually require a vote as each church is already 
functioning as a campus ministry, but is here for affirmation and to 
raise awareness of how ministry is growing.

All nominations were approved. Thank you to those who are willing to serve. 

Motion to delete ballots: M/S/C 

Closing remarks: Sharon Simpson: Apologies given for technical 
difficulties. Thank you to all who have served this past year, to all of the 
staff and BCMB Executive Board.  Thank you to Connie and Tamara and 
those running the meeting.  To all of our churches, we love you and our 
goal is to serve you well. We appreciate your questions and comments.  

Sharon closed in prayer with thanksgiving for our churches.

Meeting Adjourned at 13:25 




